

ACOOG

American College of Osteopath

Obstetricians and Gynecologists















## A MILLION HEARTS® ACTION GUIDE

# **Hypertension** in Pregnancy **CHANGE PACKAGE**





## **Authors**

The Million Hearts® Hypertension in Pregnancy Change Package was originally conceptualized and authored by Angela Ryan Lee, MD, FACC; Lisa Hollier, MD, MPH, FACOG<sup>1</sup>; Taylor E. Streeter, MPH (ASRT, Inc.)<sup>1</sup>; Rebecca Poni Lado (ORISE)<sup>1</sup>; Ashley N. Battarbee, MD, MSCR<sup>2</sup>; Christian A. Chisholm, MD<sup>3</sup>; Elizabeth A. Clark, MD, MPH<sup>1</sup>; Jacqueline Wallace, MD, MPH<sup>1</sup>; Scott Hartman, MD<sup>4</sup>; Michael Rakotz, MD, FAHA, FAAFP<sup>5</sup>; Nora Drummond, CNM, CNP<sup>6</sup>; Susan Kendig, JD, WHNP-BC, FAANP<sup>7</sup>; Shania J. Seibles, DO, JD, FACOOG<sup>8</sup>; and Hilary K. Wall, MPH.<sup>1</sup>

## Contributors

The following individuals reviewed tools and resources: Neha Sachdev, MD<sup>5</sup>; Klodiana Myftari, PharmD, BCACP<sup>5</sup>; and Susanna Lovik, RN.<sup>5</sup>

## Reviewers

We are grateful to the following individuals who provided external review and feedback on the document:

- Kristi Anderson, MD, MPH (Healthcare Resources and Services Administration [HRSA])
- Natalie Bello, MD, MPH, FACC (Cedars-Sinai Health System, American College of Cardiology [ACC])
- Rachel M. Bond MD, FACC (Creighton University School of Medicine, Association of Black Cardiologists [ABC])
- Andre Chappel, PhD (HHS Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation)
- Malamo Countouris, MD (University of Pittsburgh Medical Center; ACC)
- Stacey Dawson, PhD, MSN, CNM (Indian Health Service [IHS])
- Jane Ellis, MD, PhD (Emory University School of Medicine)
- Carrie Hanlon, MPP (Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services [CMS])

Regional Hospital/Baptist Health South Florida, ABC) • Emily J. Jones, PhD, RNC-OB, FAAN, FAHA, FPCNA (University of Oklahoma Health Sciences Center, Preventive Cardiovascular Nurses Association)

• Heather M. Johnson, MD, MS, MMM, FAHA, FACC, FASPC (Boca Raton

- Jessica Lee, MD, MSHP, MHS (CMS)
- Sarah Leetham (CMS)
- Debra McGrath, MSN, FNP (National Association of Community Health Centers [NACHC])
- Wanda Montalvo, PhD, RN, FAAN (NACHC)
- Mabatemije Otubu, RN, MPH (HRSA)
- Tina Pattara-Lau, MD, FACOG (IHS)
- Eleni Tsigas (Preeclampsia Foundation)
- Kristen Zycherman, RN, BSN (CMS)

The following individuals from CDC provided review and feedback on the document:

- Wanda Barfield, MD, MPH, FAAP
- Fátima Coronado, MD, MPH
- Shanna Cox, MSPH
- Cynthia Ferré, PhD
- Sarah L. Foster, MPH
- Judy Hannan, RN, MPH

## Web Hosting Assistance

Website hosting support of tools and resources was provided by the Society for Maternal-Fetal Medicine.

## Graphic Design and Editorial Assistance

Graphic and HTML design support was provided by Marilyn Werner, MPH, CHES<sup>1</sup>; Booker Daniels, MPH<sup>1</sup>; Susan Davis (Peraton)<sup>1</sup>; and Palladian Partners, Inc.

We would like to extend special thanks to the following organizations for developing the tools and resources that are showcased in the change package:

- Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ)
- Alliance for Innovation on Maternal Health (AIM)
- American Academy of Family Physicians (AAFP)
- American College of Cardiology (ACC)
- American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG)
- American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG) District II
- American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG) District XII
- American College of Preventive Medicine

- American Heart Association (AHA)
- American Medical Association (AMA)
- American Medical Group Foundation (AMGF)
- American Pregnancy Association (APA)
- Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation (ASPE)
- Association of Black Cardiologists (ABC)
- Association of Women's Health, Obstetric and Neonatal Nurses (AWHONN)

<sup>2</sup>Society for Maternal-Fetal Medicine

<sup>4</sup>American Academy of Family Physicians

<sup>6</sup>American College of Nurse-Midwives

- Charlene A. Wong, MD, MSHP
- Janet S. Wright, MD, MACC, FPCNA

 Charlan Kroelinger, PhD • Laurence S. Sperling, MD, FACC, FAHA, FACP, FASPC

## • Tom Keane, JD, MPA

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>American Medical Association

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>National Association of Nurse Practitioners in Women's Health

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>American College of Osteopathic Obstetricians and Gynecologists

- Atrium Health Wake Forest Baptist (formerly Cornerstone Health Care)
- Baptist Health College Little Rock
- Brigham and Women's Hospital
- California Healthcare Foundation
- California Maternal Quality Care Collaborative (CMQCC)
- CardioSmart
- Center for Community Health Alignment
- Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS)
- Cheshire Medical Center/Dartmouth-Hitchcock
- Community Preventive Services Task Force
- Consumer Reports
- Council on Patient Safety in Women's Health Care
- Duke University School of Medicine
- findhelp.org (formerly known as Aunt Bertha)
- Florida Perinatal Quality Collaborative (FPQC)
- Florida State University (FSU) Center for Prevention and Early Intervention Policy
- Fort HealthCare
- Georgia Perinatal Quality Collaborative (GaPQC)
- Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA)
- HealthyHearts NYC
- HIPxChange
- Illinois Perinatal Quality Collaborative (ILPQC)
- Indiana Perinatal Quality Improvement Collaborative (IPQIC)
- Institute for Healthcare Improvement (IHI)
- Intermountain Health
- Jupiter Medical Center
- Kaiser Family Foundation (KFF)
- Kaiser Permanente
- Maine Center for Disease Control and Prevention
- March of Dimes
- Marshfield Clinic Health System
- Mass General Brigham
- Minnesota Board of Nursing
- Minnesota Department of Health
- Minnesota Perinatal Quality Collaborative (MNPQC)
- Montana Cardiovascular Health Program
- The MotHERS Program
- MotherToBaby<sup>®</sup>
- National Alliance of State Pharmacy Associations
- National Association of Chronic Disease Directors (NACDD)

## For More Information

Hilary K. Wall, MPH Division for Heart Disease and Stroke Prevention Centers for Disease Control and Prevention hwall@cdc.gov

- National Association of Community Health Centers (NACHC)
- National Healthy Start Association
- National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (NHLBI)
- National Institute of Child Health and Human Development (NICHD)
- New York City Department of Health and Mental Hygiene (NYC DOHMH)
- North and South Dakota Perinatal Quality Collaborative (NSDPQC)
- Northern Health
- Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology (ONC)
- Oklahoma Perinatal Quality Improvement Collaborative (OPQIC)
- Open Door Family Medical Centers
- Oregon Primary Care Association (OPCA)
- Penn Medicine Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology
- (OBGYN) Heart Safe Motherhood
- Plymouth Family Physicians
- Preeclampsia Foundation
- Primary Maternity Care
- Project Implicit
- Public Health Informatics Institute
- Reproductive Health National Training Center (RHNTC)
- Script Your Future
- Sinai Urban Health Institute, Sinai Health System
- Society for Maternal-Fetal Medicine (SMFM)
- STRIDE BP
- Target: BP
- The Joint Commission
- United States Department of Agriculture (USDA)
- United States Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF)
- University of California, San Francisco (UCSF)
- University of Chicago Medicine
- University of Connecticut (UConn) Health
- University of North Carolina (UNC) Collaborative for Maternal and Infant Health
- University of Texas Medical Branch
- Washington State Department of Health
- Weill Cornell Medicine
- WellSpan Health
- Wisconsin Perinatal Quality Collaborative (WisPQC)
- Zufall Health

## Suggested Citation

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *Hypertension in Pregnancy Change Package*. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; 2024.

#### Health care settings are shown in **bold font**.

Website addresses of nonfederal organizations are provided solely as a service to readers. Provision of an address does not constitute an endorsement for this organization by CDC or the federal government, and none should be inferred. CDC is not responsible for the content of other organizations' webpages.

### Foreword

The **Federal Hypertension Control Leadership Council** convened in 2020 in response to the Surgeon General's Call to Action to Control Hypertension to make equitable hypertension control a national priority. Controlling hypertension can save lives, improve health and resilience, and reduce costs. The Council's 12 founding federal agencies and offices work together to inspire, coordinate, and accelerate action to improve hypertension prevention, detection, and control for all.

This is a daunting charge. Hypertension in the United States is common, often uncontrolled, and harmful. Nearly 120 million people, 1 in every 2 U.S. adults, have hypertension, and only 1 in 4 of those adults has it under control. Disparities in both prevalence and control abound. Black adults experience earlier onset of high blood pressure, adding years of harm from elevated pressure. American Indian, Alaska Native, and Black adults and individuals living in rural areas have rates of control below the national average. In everyone, uncontrolled hypertension can lead to heart attacks, strokes, kidney disease, heart failure, dementia, and complications of pregnancy.

Hypertension—before, during, and following pregnancy—is on the rise in the United States. Hypertension in pregnancy not only jeopardizes the lives and health of both mothers and babies but raises their lifetime risk of heart disease and stroke, the first and fifth causes of death in the United States, respectively. Improving the timely detection and management of hypertension in pregnancy is an investment in health and prosperity for families, communities, and workplaces across the nation.

For these reasons and more that you will read on the following pages, members of the Federal Hypertension Control Leadership Council are proud to support the *Hypertension in Pregnancy Change Package* and its widespread implementation by clinicians, teams, and health systems across the country. This collection of effective, evidence-informed approaches can help accelerate the adoption of what works to prevent harm from hypertension in pregnancy. Thank you for joining us on this mission.

## Contents

Hypertension in Pregnancy Change Package—Quick Reference	1
What Is the Hypertension in Pregnancy Change Package?	5
Hypertension in Pregnancy and Its Associated Risks Figure 1. Hypertension in Pregnancy Definitions	
Burden of Hypertension in Pregnancy on Morbidity and Mortality	6
Quality Improvement Opportunities: Improving Prevention, Identification, and Management         of Hypertension in Pregnancy.         Figure 2. Indications for Aspirin Prophylaxis in Pregnancy.         Figure 3. How to Accurately Measure Blood Pressure         Table 1. Preferred Oral Antihypertensive Medications in Pregnancy and Lactation.	10 11
Lifelong Cardiovascular Risk: Counseling and Care Transitions	14
How Can I Use the Hypertension in Pregnancy Change Package? Figure 4. Institute for Healthcare Improvement (IHI) Model for Improvement Figure 5. Hypertension in Pregnancy Change Package Focus Areas	15
How To Measure Quality Improvement Efforts	
Change Concepts, Change Ideas, and Tools and Resources	18
Table 2. Key Foundations         Table 3. Equipping Care Teams         Table 4. Population Health Management         Table 5. Individual Patient Supports	25 34
Appendix A: Additional Resources and Toolkits for Hypertension in Pregnancy	42
Appendix B: Self-Measured Blood Pressure Monitoring	43
Appendix C: Additional Quality Improvement Resources	45
Appendix D: Clinical Quality Measures Related to Hypertension in Pregnancy Table 6. Select Measures, Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) Quality Payment Program (QPP) 2023 Obstetrics/Gynecology Specialty Measure Set	
Acronyms	47
References	49



## Hypertension in Pregnancy Change Package–Quick Reference

The *Hypertension in Pregnancy Change Package* is a guide to help outpatient clinical settings put systems in place to improve the care they provide for women with hypertension in pregnancy. It provides resources tailored for outpatient care of pregnant women and women of reproductive age, including strategies related to

- Identification of chronic hypertension in women of reproductive age and early pregnancy
- Early diagnosis of gestational hypertension and preeclampsia
- Prevention of preeclampsia with aspirin prophylaxis in patients at higher risk

- Prescription of antihypertensive treatment when indicated
- Rapid escalation of care for severe hypertension in pregnancy
- Postpartum counseling on warning symptoms, long-term cardiovascular risk, prevention strategies, and reproductive life planning and contraception
- Establishing effective transitions of care to support lifelong cardiovascular risk counseling and management

#### **Focus Areas**



### Change Concepts and Change Ideas

ey Foundations
lake HTN in Pregnancy Identification and Management a Practice or System Priority>>
Designate a practice or health system champion to lead quality improvement efforts for HTN in pregnancy
Involve all team members in addressing HTN in pregnancy
Expand the care team to include community health workers, community pharmacists, and/or doulas
Train all patient-facing staff on recognizing warning signs and escalation of care
Ensure care team engagement by providing education on HTN in pregnancy and role of health care team
Establish policy of care transitions from pregnancy care to primary care and/or cardiology for long-term management of HTN and cardiovascular risk
Redesign clinical spaces to support proper BP measurement technique
ncorporate Quality Metrics for HTN in Pregnancy Into Organizational Strategic Plans>>
Develop quality metrics for HTN in women of reproductive age
Develop quality metrics for HTN management in pregnancy and the postpartum period
Develop quality metrics for long-term cardiovascular disease risk mitigation in women with history of HTN in pregnancy
rioritize Ease of Access to Care>>
Provide BP checks without appointment or co-pay
Assist pregnant women with health insurance enrollment
Incorporate virtual appointments/telemedicine when appropriate, such as in follow-up of SMBP readings
nplement a Policy or Process to Address BP for Every Patient at Every Visit>>
Develop policies and procedures to reflect prioritization of HTN diagnosis and management
Develop a process for appropriate testing for women with HTN in pregnancy, including target organ damage, secondary causes of chronic hypertension, and preeclampsia
Develop a flowchart/workflow for proactively tracking and managing women with HTN in pregnancy
Overcome diagnostic and clinical inertia using algorithms and protocols specific to HTN in pregnancy
Develop a policy for aspirin prophylaxis in pregnancy
Develop a policy or process for immediate escalation of care/treatment of severe HTN/preeclampsia with severe features
romote a Culture of Safety for Continued Process Evaluation and Improvement>>
Perform debriefs and case reviews of complex cases and complications
Perform regular simulation drills for severe HTN
rioritize Respectful, Culturally Sensitive Care>>
Assess organizational capacity to deliver equitable, respectful patient care
Implement policies or processes to train all patient-facing staff in respectful and culturally safe communication, being mindful of communication needs and various family structures and cultural practices

HTN = hypertension; SMBP = self-measured blood pressure; SDOH = social drivers/determinants of health; BP = blood pressure

Equipping Care Teams
Train and Evaluate Direct Care Staff on Accurate BP Measurement and Documentation>>
Adopt a clinician/staff training policy to train and retrain staff on BP measurement
Provide guidance on measuring BP accurately
Assess adherence to proper BP measurement technique
Train Direct Care Staff on Interpretation of BP Measurements and Diagnosis of HTN in Pregnancy>>
Provide guidance on diagnosis and classification of HTN in pregnancy
Use algorithms/flowcharts for management of HTN in pregnancy, including recognition of severe HTN
Train Care Teams on Appropriate Laboratory Assessment Related to HTN in Pregnancy>>
Provide guidance on laboratory tests indicated for chronic HTN, including assessment for end-organ damage and secondary HTN
Provide guidance on laboratory testing for preeclampsia, including urine protein measurement
Equip Care Teams to Provide Appropriate Medications>>
Train staff on indications for antihypertensive therapies in pregnancy and postpartum
Provide guidance on selection of preferred antihypertensives in pregnancy and lactation
Train staff on indications for aspirin prophylaxis during pregnancy to prevent preeclampsia
Use checklists, algorithms, and decision trees to ensure aspirin prophylaxis is prescribed for all pregnant women who
meet indications
Facilitate access to prescription medications
Provide guidance and access to safe contraceptive options
Equip Care Teams for Timely Escalation of Care for Treatment of Acute Severe HTN in Pregnancy>>
Use algorithms and checklists for identification of severe HTN and next steps
Develop a plan for escalation of care and/or emergency transport
Equip Care Teams to Manage Immediate and Long-Term Cardiovascular Risk in Women With HTN in Pregnancy>>
Provide supports for managing cardiovascular risk in women with HTN in pregnancy
Employ checklists for addressing cardiovascular risk related to HTN in pregnancy
Equip Direct Care Staff to Facilitate Patient Self-Management>>
Train staff on motivational interviewing techniques and development of a shared action plan for lifestyle counseling
Ensure care team is skilled in supporting patient medication adherence
Put a prevention, engagement, and self-management program in place
Establish a Self-Measured Blood-Pressure (SMBP) Monitoring Program>>
Make the case to the care team and practice leadership that SMBP is a useful tool for select women with HTN in pregnancy
Assign care team roles for an SMBP monitoring program and adapt the workflow accordingly
Provide patients guidance on selecting an SMBP monitor
Develop an SMBP monitor loaner program
Train patients on SMBP monitor use and proper preparation and positioning
Develop a process for handling patient-generated BP readings
Incorporate virtual appointments/telemedicine for follow-up/counseling
Prepare the Care Team Beforehand for Effective HTN Management During Encounters>>
Use a flowchart/dashboard with care gaps highlighted in team huddles to help care teams better support patients
Implement pre-visit planning into workflows and use clinical decision support tools to ensure indicated orders/actions occur during the visit
Promote Effective Communication Among Team Members, Specialties, and Sites of Care>>
Utilize communication tools for handoffs, escalation of care, and event reporting
Provide a system for coordination of care among clinicians/specialties
Provide Clinician- and System-Level Feedback on Progress and Impact>>
Set and communicate specific, measurable performance and quality goals
Monitor outcomes/process metrics
,

#### **Population Health Management** Identify Women With Potentially Undiagnosed HTN>> Establish clinical criteria to define potentially undiagnosed HTN Search electronic health record (EHR) data for patients who meet the established clinical criteria Implement a plan to confirm HTN status and treat as appropriate Ensure accurate coding and diagnosis of pregnancy and HTN in pregnancy Use a Registry to Track and Manage Patients With HTN>> Implement a HTN registry for pertinent patient populations Use a defined process for outreach (phone, mail, email, text message) to women with HTN in pregnancy Use Clinician-Managed Protocols for Medication Adjustments and Lifestyle Recommendations>> Use protocols to cover proactive outreach driven by registry use and respond to patient-submitted home BP readings Use Practice Data to Drive Improvement>> Determine HTN control and related process metrics for the practice Regularly provide a dashboard with BP goals, metrics, and performance **Individual Patient Supports** Provide Patient Education on HTN in Pregnancy>> Provide women and their support systems with educational materials on HTN in pregnancy Educate women and their support systems to recognize and seek immediate attention for warning signs of HTN in pregnancy and serious acute cardiovascular events in pregnancy and the postpartum period Provide patient education on aspirin prophylaxis to prevent preeclampsia for pregnant women at higher risk Prepare Patients Before the Office Visit via Pre-Visit Patient Outreach>> Contact patients to confirm upcoming appointments and provide instruction on how to prepare for their visit **Optimize Patient Intake to Support HTN Management>>** Provide patients with tools to support their visit agenda and goal setting Measure, document, and repeat BP correctly as indicated; flag abnormal readings Reconcile medications patient is actually taking with the EHR medication list Optimize the Patient-Clinician Encounter>> Use documentation templates to help capture key data such as patient treatment goals and barriers to adherence Use order sets and standing orders to support evidence-informed and individualized care Assess medication adherence Counsel on HTN in pregnancy by using communication techniques Assess patients' social drivers/determinants of health (SDOH) **Optimize the Encounter Closing>>** Provide patient supports and resources related to identified SDOH Provide patients with a written self-management plan, visit summary, and follow-up guidance at the end of each visit Follow Up to Monitor and Reinforce HTN Management Plans>> Assign staff responsibility for managing refill requests by refill protocol Implement frequent follow-ups (e.g., emails, phone calls, text messages) with patients to ensure they are taking medication as directed, using SMBP, and scheduling appointments Use all staff touchpoints to support BP goals and follow up Support Patients With HTN in Pregnancy in Self-Management During Their Routine Daily Activities>> Provide patient supports for medication adherence Provide patient supports for SMBP monitoring Provide patient supports for increasing physical activity Provide patient supports for dietary changes Provide patient supports and resources related to mental health and well-being Provide patient supports on benefits of breastfeeding for long-term cardiovascular health Provide patient supports for safe contraceptive options Provide patient supports for smoking cessation

## What Is the Hypertension in Pregnancy Change Package?

The Hypertension in Pregnancy Change Package (HPCP) is a guide to help outpatient clinical settings put systems in place to improve the care they provide for women with hypertension in pregnancy. Throughout this document, we use the term *women* to encompass a broader group of individuals who have the capacity to become pregnant and may be affected by hypertension in pregnancy. Most of the scientific literature and other publications cited in this document focus on cisgender women; however, we acknowledge the importance of hypertension and the subsequent risk of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease among transgender, nonbinary, and intersex individuals as well.

The HPCP presents an evidence-informed listing of process improvements with accompanying tools and resources that outpatient clinicians and care team members can implement as they provide care to pregnant women and women of reproductive age with a focus on early identification, optimal management, and prevention of complications of hypertension in pregnancy. The HPCP is composed of **change concepts, change ideas**, and evidence- or practice-based **tools and resources**.

- **Change concepts** are general notions that are useful in the development of more specific ideas for changes that lead to improvement.
- Change ideas are specific, actionable ideas for changing a process. Change ideas can be rapidly tested on a small scale to determine whether they result in improvements in the local environment.
- Evidence- or practice-informed tools and resources listed with each change idea can be adapted or adopted in a clinical setting to improve identification and management of hypertension in pregnancy.

There is strong evidence that a systematic approach to chronic hypertension management in the general population can significantly improve hypertension-related care processes and outcomes.<sup>1</sup> The science behind cardiovascular risk reduction related to hypertension in pregnancy is evolving. Although there is a need for definitive data in the pregnant and postpartum population, some evidence-based methods that have demonstrated success in the context of chronic hypertension in the general population may confer benefit. Furthermore, pregnancy is a period of physiologic hemodynamic stress that offers a unique opportunity to identify future cardiovascular risk at a time when risk reduction earlier in the lifespan can have a great impact.<sup>2-3</sup>

Effective management of hypertension in pregnancy necessitates collaboration among multidisciplinary care teams across both inpatient and outpatient settings. The management of *severe* hypertension in pregnancy in emergency and inpatient settings is addressed by several comprehensive toolkits from professional societies and organizations and state perinatal quality collaboratives (PQCs), several of which are listed in Appendix A. However, the HPCP provides resources tailored for outpatient care of pregnant women and women of reproductive age, including strategies related to

- Identification of chronic hypertension in women of reproductive age and early pregnancy
- Early diagnosis of gestational hypertension and preeclampsia
- Prevention of preeclampsia with aspirin prophylaxis in patients at higher risk
- Prescription of antihypertensive treatment when indicated
- Rapid escalation of care for severe hypertension in pregnancy

- Postpartum counseling on warning symptoms, long-term cardiovascular risk, prevention strategies, and reproductive life planning and contraception
- Establishing effective transitions of care to support lifelong cardiovascular risk counseling and management

## Hypertension in Pregnancy and Its Associated Risks

All forms of hypertension in pregnancy are associated with an increased incidence of maternal and neonatal complications, as well as long-term cardiovascular risk factor and disease development.<sup>4–8</sup> Hypertension in pregnancy encompasses chronic (or preexisting) hypertension and pregnancy-associated hypertension, including gestational hypertension, preeclampsia, eclampsia, and chronic hypertension with superimposed preeclampsia or eclampsia. The impacts of pregnancy associated hypertension extend beyond pregnancy and the postpartum period. Research has increasingly shed light on its impact on future health, including associations with earlier onset of sustained chronic hypertension and increased incidence of cardiovascular disease and cardiovascular mortality.4,9-10

The classification of hypertensive disorders of pregnancy (HDP) variably includes chronic hypertension depending on the guidelines and definitions set forth by professional medical societies. Recognizing the substantial impact that all forms of hypertension may have on maternal and fetal/offspring outcomes both in pregnancy and long term, **this document uses the term** *hypertension in pregnancy* **to include both chronic hypertension and pregnancy-associated hypertension (i.e., gestational hypertension, preeclampsia, eclampsia, and preeclampsia/ eclampsia superimposed on chronic hypertension**). While various guidelines differ on blood pressure (BP) treatment thresholds and targets, currently, there is a general consensus for the definition of hypertension in pregnancy as two or more blood pressure readings during pregnancy of  $\geq$ 140 mmHg systolic and/or  $\geq$ 90 mmHg diastolic measured 4 hours apart. Severe hypertension in pregnancy is defined as BP of  $\geq$ 160 mmHg systolic and/or  $\geq$ 110 mmHg diastolic measured at least 4 hours apart, though the diagnosis may be confirmed within minutes for treatment purposes. BPs in the severe range that are persistent on measurements at least 15 minutes apart are considered a hypertensive emergency and warrant urgent therapy (**Figure 1**).<sup>11–12</sup>

## Burden of Hypertension in Pregnancy on Morbidity and Mortality

The prevalence of hypertension in pregnancy has been rising in recent years, in part due to increased prevalence of risk factors, including obesity, diabetes, and advanced maternal age.<sup>13</sup> Up to 1 in 5 women of reproductive age are affected by chronic hypertension ( $\geq$ 130/80 mmHg), with hypertension in pregnancy affecting 15.9% of delivery hospitalizations.<sup>13,14</sup>

All forms of hypertension in pregnancy are associated with an increased incidence of maternal and neonatal complications, as well as long-term cardiovascular risk factor and disease development.

#### Figure 1. Hypertension in Pregnancy Definitions<sup>11-12</sup>



BP = blood pressure; Cr = creatinine; mg/dL = milligrams per deciliter

#### Adverse Pregnancy Outcomes and Pregnancy-Related Mortality

Hypertension in pregnancy increases the risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes such as placental abruption, preterm delivery, low birth weight, fetal growth restriction, and perinatal death, as well as other serious maternal complications, which may occur during pregnancy or in the postpartum period, such as myocardial infarction, stroke, cardiomyopathy, seizures, and death.<sup>4, 16-19</sup>

Hypertension in pregnancy is among the leading causes of pregnancy-related mortality, defined as a death while pregnant or within 1 year of the end of pregnancy from any cause related to or aggravated by the pregnancy. From 2017 to 2019, hypertension in pregnancy caused 6.3% of pregnancy-related deaths.<sup>20</sup> Data from state maternal mortality review committees (MMRCs) indicate that more than 53% of pregnancy-related deaths occurred 1 week to 1 year following the end of pregnancy,<sup>21</sup> highlighting the importance of incorporating strategies for risk counseling and continued monitoring of women with conditions that arise during pregnancy, including hypertension in pregnancy, to continue after 6 weeks postpartum.22

Importantly, most of these deaths are considered preventable. MMRCs determine the preventability of pregnancy-related deaths based on data available during case review. Analysis of pregnancy-related mortality in California demonstrated that 100% of deaths attributed to preeclampsia/eclampsia were determined to have at least some chance of being prevented, and 60% had a *good-to-strong* chance of being prevented.<sup>23</sup> Furthermore, an analysis of data from four states found that clinician factors, such as missed or delayed diagnosis and the use of ineffective treatments, were identified in nearly two-thirds of preeclampsia- and eclampsia-related deaths.<sup>24</sup> Implementing strategies to enhance early recognition and appropriate management of hypertension in pregnancy may have an impact on these preventable deaths.

## Disparities and Health Inequities in Hypertension in Pregnancy

Non-Hispanic Black and American Indian/Alaska Native women experience the highest prevalence of hypertension in pregnancy; approximately 1 in 5 Black women and 1 in 6 American Indian/ Alaska Native women have hypertension at delivery hospitalization.<sup>13</sup> Hypertension in pregnancy contributed to a higher proportion of pregnancy-related deaths among Black and American Indian/Alaska Native women compared with White women.<sup>25</sup> In addition to disparities related to race and ethnicity, prevalence of hypertension in pregnancy is also higher for women at least 35 years of age and for women living in the South and Midwest, in rural counties, and in areas with the lowest median household income.<sup>13</sup> Underlying factors contributing to these disparities include social drivers/determinants of health (SDOH) such as health care access and guality, and structural racism, including systemic racial bias within the health care system.<sup>26–33</sup> Further, culturally informed, patient-centered, and respectful care that addresses patient communication needs such as health literacy and language barriers can improve engagement and outcomes. Negative maternity care experiences might influence health care utilization; for example, prenatal experiences of racial discrimination have been associated with lower attendance at postpartum visits.<sup>34</sup> Multiple clinical societies and organizations have deemed systemic racism as a root cause of health inequities.35-39

Hypertension in pregnancy increases the risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes ... as well as other complications, which may occur during pregnancy or in the postpartum period. Stratifying clinical data by race, ethnicity, gender, age, insurance status, preferred language, transportation, and other SDOH is an important step to identify care gaps that may contribute to health disparities. Those involved in the care of pregnant and postpartum women can play a key role in achieving health equity in pregnancyrelated outcomes by assessing and addressing disparities in hypertension management.

#### Long-Term Risks for Pregnant Women and Their Children

In addition to serious complications during pregnancy and the postpartum period, hypertension in pregnancy is associated with increased cardiovascular risk later in life for both pregnant women and their children. Pregnancyassociated hypertension, including gestational hypertension and preeclampsia, is associated with earlier onset of cardiovascular disease risk factors, such as chronic hypertension, diabetes, and hyperlipidemia, as well as increased risk of cardiovascular disease including heart failure, ischemic heart disease, and stroke.<sup>40–41</sup> Hypertension in pregnancy is associated with cardiovascular mortality, with a pronounced 1.7to 3.6-fold increased lifetime risk of cardiovascular mortality associated with preeclampsia.42 Recognition of the association of preeclampsia and other adverse pregnancy outcomes with future cardiovascular risk has led to their inclusion in guidelines as risk-enhancing factors in cardiovascular disease risk assessment.43

Hypertension in pregnancy may also pose long-term risks for the children of affected pregnancies. In utero exposure to hypertension in pregnancy is associated with future risk of hypertension.<sup>44</sup> Studies have also suggested increased risk of stroke and all-cause mortality, particularly in children of pregnancies complicated by early-onset preeclampsia and preeclampsia with severe features.<sup>45-47</sup>

## Quality Improvement Opportunities: Improving Prevention, Identification, and Management of Hypertension in Pregnancy

Targeting prevention, identification, or management of hypertension in pregnancy provides good starting points for quality improvement (QI) initiatives on practiceor system-wide levels.

#### Prevention

Low-dose aspirin (81 mg) for certain pregnant women at higher risk of preeclampsia started between 12 and 28 weeks of gestation, optimally before 16 weeks, and continued daily until delivery has been shown to reduce risk of preeclampsia and related morbidity and mortality and is supported by guidelines.<sup>48-49</sup> Indications for aspirin prophylaxis in pregnancy are detailed in **Figure 2**. Developing a system to identify pregnant women who can benefit from aspirin prophylaxis and promote adherence can be targets for QI initiatives to reduce preeclampsia and related complications.

#### Identification

Approximately 1 in 5 women of reproductive age have chronic hypertension, many of whom may not be aware of the diagnosis.<sup>14, 50</sup> Wellwoman visits are an opportunity to address hypertension in this population.<sup>51</sup> Furthermore, prepregnancy counseling is recommended to provide crucial insights into potential health risks and optimize conditions for a healthy pregnancy.<sup>52–53</sup> If counseling prior to pregnancy is not feasible, pregnancy is a time when women may have better access to and present more regularly for health care and is a valuable opportunity to identify chronic hypertension, perform baseline evaluation, and establish a treatment plan. Early diagnosis of hypertension before or during pregnancy allows for initiation of lifestyle changes and therapies to reduce the likelihood of complications and depends on timely screening via BP measurement. Studies have shown that in general patient populations, there are nontrivial numbers of patients with multiple elevated BP readings who do not have a diagnosis of hypertension.<sup>54–59</sup> These patients with potentially undiagnosed hypertension have been deemed "hiding in plain sight" and are less likely to be on antihypertensive therapy than their counterparts with a diagnosis.<sup>55,60</sup> Though there are fewer published studies assessing potentially undiagnosed hypertension in pregnancy, large health systems have identified it as a QI opportunity.<sup>61</sup>

Guidelines recommend screening for hypertension in pregnancy using BP measurements throughout pregnancy at each prenatal visit due to the substantial net benefit and minimal risk of harm.<sup>62</sup> When measuring BP, proper technique is essential to obtain accurate readings (**Figure 3**). It is important to use a BP device that has been validated for accuracy in pregnancy (see Appendix B).<sup>63–64</sup>

Hypertension identified prior to 20 weeks' gestation is consistent with chronic hypertension, hypertension identified after 20 weeks' gestation may be due to gestational hypertension or preeclampsia. Baseline evaluation for these conditions includes<sup>11–12, 65</sup>

- Serum labs including creatinine, blood urea nitrogen, electrolytes, and transaminase levels
- Complete blood count
- Spot urine protein/creatinine ratio or creatinine clearance calculated from 24-hour urine total protein and creatinine
- Electrocardiogram and echocardiogram, when indicated, such as for symptomatic patients

#### Figure 2. Indications for Aspirin Prophylaxis in Pregnancy48-49



#### Figure 3. How to Accurately Measure Blood Pressure



#### This **"7 Simple Tips to Get an Accurate Blood Pressure Reading"** was adapted with permission of the American Medical Association and Johns Hopkins University. The original copyrighted content can be found at <u>www.ama-assn.org/</u> **ama-johns-hopkins-blood-pressure-resources**.

#### Sources:

1. Pickering. et al. Recommendations for Blood Pressure Measurement in Humans and Experimental Animals Part 1: Blood Pressure Measurement in Humans. Circulation. 2005;111: 697-716.

2. Handler J. The importance of accurate blood pressure measurement.

Among those with chronic hypertension, 20-50% of pregnancies progress to superimposed preeclampsia, and half of those with gestational hypertension will develop preeclampsia.<sup>11–12</sup> Thus, for these women, monitoring of BP, symptoms, and laboratory markers, such as urine protein, throughout pregnancy is essential. Implementing algorithms and checklists for monitoring intervals and indicated laboratory studies can help ensure appropriate management. BP monitoring may be achieved through frequent antenatal visits; however, incorporating self-measured blood pressure (SMBP) monitoring for women with elevated BP can be a helpful strategy that engages patients in their care. SMBP is discussed in Appendix B.

#### Antepartum Management of Hypertension in Pregnancy

Identification of hypertension during pregnancy, as in the general population, should prompt counseling on lifestyle, including recommendations on healthy dietary patterns, physical activity, and recommended weight gain during pregnancy. Antihypertensive medication may be indicated to lower BP and reduce the risk of complications. Pregnant women with hypertension should be counseled on warning signs of preeclampsia and hypertensive emergencies and given clear instructions on when and how to seek medical attention. It's also important that all patient-facing staff, including those who answer phone lines, schedule appointments, and perform patient intake and vital sign measurement, are trained in recognizing symptoms and BP elevations that require prompt escalation of care. Clinicians who care for pregnant and postpartum women should not hesitate to make timely and appropriate referrals to maternal-fetal medicine specialists, internal medical specialists, or cardiologists or a higher level of care facility when indicated.

Use 140/90 mmHg, rather than the previous 160/105–110 mmHg, as either a threshold to initiate treatment or as the upper-limit target BP for chronic hypertension.

For acute-onset severe hypertension, urgent therapy with antihypertensive agents is warranted, and magnesium sulfate may be indicated for seizure prophylaxis. Depending on the gestational age, coexisting maternal conditions, and fetal status, delivery or expectant management with pharmacotherapy may be appropriate.<sup>12</sup> Recognition of severe BP elevation in the outpatient setting is critical and should prompt urgent referral to a higher level of care for management. In outpatient care settings, clear protocols should be in place for escalating care, including arranging transportation.

Management of less severe BP elevation in pregnancy differs by the underlying diagnosis. For gestational hypertension and preeclampsia without severe features, antihypertensive agents are not currently recommended for BP <160/110 mmHq, though evidence for efficacy and safety of a lower treatment threshold is evolving. Guidance for chronic hypertension, on the other hand, was recently updated after results from the Chronic Hypertension and Pregnancy (CHAP) trial were published. This multicenter randomized controlled trial found that women randomized to antihypertensive therapy to achieve a stricter BP target of less than 140/90 mmHg experienced better pregnancy outcomes.<sup>66</sup> These findings informed clinical guidance updates, with recommendations to use 140/90 mmHg, rather than the previous 160/105–110 mmHq, as either a threshold to initiate treatment or as the upperlimit target BP for chronic hypertension.<sup>67–68</sup>

When prescribing antihypertensives in pregnancy, consideration must be given to their safety in pregnancy and lactation. Preferred medications are listed in **Table 1**. Additionally, careful attention should be paid to the potential need for dose adjustments due to changes

in metabolism of particular drugs during pregnancy. For women taking medications to manage preexisting chronic hypertension prior to pregnancy, it is advisable to substitute medications with known adverse effects in pregnancy with preferred alternatives.

Table 1. Preferred\* Oral Antihypertensive Medications in Pregnancy and Lactation<sup>11,69</sup>

Preferred Medications in Pregnancy	Starting Dose	Maximum Dose	Precautions and Considerations
First-Line Agents			
Labetalol	100 to 200 mg twice daily	2400 mg per 24 hours	<ul> <li>Asthma, acute decompensated cardiac function, bradycardia</li> <li>May require three times daily dosing due to increased metabolism during pregnancy</li> </ul>
Nifedipine (extended release)	30 mg daily	120 mg per 24 hours	
Methyldopa <sup>†</sup>	250 mg two to three times daily	3000 mg per 24 hours	
Second-Line Agents			
Hydralazine	10 mg four times daily	300 mg per 24 hours	Reflex tachycardia
Chlorthalidone or hydrochlorothiazide	12.5 mg daily	50 mg per 24 hours	
Clonidine	0.1 mg transdermal daily or 0.1 to 0.3 mg by mouth twice daily	0.3 mg transdermal or 0.6 mg by mouth per 24 hours	Rebound hypertension with abrupt cessation
Preferred Medications in Lactation	Starting Dose	Maximum Dose	Precautions and Considerations
Nifedipine (extended release)	30 mg daily	120 mg per 24 hours	
Enalapril, captopril, benazepril	Varies by agent	Varies by agent	Close follow-up of infant's weight; counsel on contraceptive plan
Labetalol	100 to 200 mg twice daily	2400 mg per 24 hours	Asthma, acute decompensated cardiac function, bradycardia
Hydrochlorothiazide	12.5 mg daily	50 mg per 24 hours	May decrease milk production
Hydralazine	10 mg four times daily	300 mg per 24 hours	Reflex tachycardia

\*Many medications used to treat hypertension do not have robust data surrounding their use in pregnancy and breastfeeding. Long-term use of certain medications should be avoided but they may be appropriate to use in a life-threatening emergency. Please consult pharmaceutical references or other guidance for additional considerations.

<sup>†</sup>There have been recent shortages of methyldopa. As of February 8, 2024, there is only one manufacturer of methyldopa oral tablets in the United States, which could contribute to future shortages. Prescribing clinicians may want to consider an alternative medication or check for active shortages or supply issues.

#### **Postpartum Management of Hypertension**

In the postpartum period, elevated BP may persist after a diagnosis of hypertension in pregnancy or may occur without any preceding hypertension. Most pregnancy-related deaths are preventable. More than 50% occur >7 days to 1 year after the end of pregnancy, and hypertensive disorders of pregnancy are **a leading cause**.<sup>21</sup> Thus, it is important for both patients and care providers to recognize and respond to warning signs and severely elevated BP. All pregnant and postpartum patients, particularly those with a history of hypertension in pregnancy, should receive counseling on warning signs for preeclampsia and instructions on when and how to seek medical care. Additionally, SMBP may play a role in the postpartum monitoring of BP for women with a diagnosis of hypertension in pregnancy.<sup>70</sup>

Recommendations for postpartum follow-up of women with hypertension in pregnancy vary, but a pragmatic approach includes SMBP until a visit within 7–10 days after delivery or within 72 hours for those with severe hypertension.<sup>15</sup> Following this initial contact, it is recommended that ongoing care be provided as indicated including a comprehensive postpartum visit within 12 weeks of birth.<sup>22</sup>

The postpartum visit is an excellent opportunity to ensure BP control, assess social drivers of health, and provide counseling on

- Lifestyle factors such as healthy dietary pattern, sodium intake, physical activity recommendations, and smoking cessation
- Pregnancy planning and contraceptive choices, with consideration of risks of estrogencontaining hormonal contraception use in women with hypertension and increased risk for adverse health events as a result of pregnancy

- Lifelong cardiovascular risk and need for establishing primary care for regular follow-up and cardiovascular risk factor screening and management
- Warning signs for serious acute cardiovascular events and how and when to seek medical care

While BP may normalize in the postpartum period in women with pregnancy-associated hypertension, limited data suggest **40–50%** of women with pregnancy-associated hypertension have persistently elevated blood pressures at 6 weeks postpartum, and approximately 40% of women with severe preeclampsia have hypertension 1 year postpartum.71-74 Persistent hypertension beyond the postpartum period warrants consideration of a diagnosis of chronic hypertension. Lifestyle counseling and pharmacotherapy to achieve BP goals should occur as in the general population to reduce long-term cardiovascular risk. Consideration should also be given to potential secondary causes of hypertension, particularly in women less than 30 years of age, those requiring multiple antihypertensive agents, and those with low-serum potassium so that appropriate targeted therapies may be provided. Refer to the Million Hearts<sup>®</sup> Hypertension Control Change Package for tools and resources on strategies for hypertension control in the general population.

### Lifelong Cardiovascular Risk: Counseling and Care Transitions

It is essential that a clinician is identified for ongoing preventive care and cardiovascular risk management for women with hypertension in pregnancy. In general, rates of follow-up for continuity of care are low, resulting in a missed opportunity for cardiovascular risk reduction.<sup>75</sup> Many women may not have an established primary care clinician. Establishing processes to identify a clinician responsible for continuity of care after pregnancy is crucial, and women should be counseled on the importance of receiving this follow-up care. A clear plan for follow-up, including warm handoffs whenever possible, should be arranged at the postpartum visit with a process for providing women with pertinent aspects of their pregnancy history, such as a patient summary or medical records, to be shared with their primary care clinician and subspecialists for long-term follow-up and cardiovascular risk surveillance and management.

## How Can I Use the Hypertension in Pregnancy Change Package (HPCP)?

The HPCP is meant to serve as a menu of options from which practices can select specific interventions to improve diagnosis and management of hypertension in pregnancy. We do not recommend that any practice attempt to implement all of the interventions at once, nor is it likely that all interventions will be applicable to your clinical setting.

Start by bringing together a team of clinicians, administrators, and other interested parties to discuss the aspects of hypertension in pregnancy that are most in need of improvement (see Appendix C for additional quality improvement resources that can be useful in planning improvement activities, like a root cause analysis). The team can then select corresponding interventions from the HPCP that best address those issues.

**Figure 4** provides the Institute for Healthcare Improvement (IHI) Model for Improvement.<sup>76</sup> The model suggests posing three questions:

- 1. What are we trying to accomplish?
- 2. How will we know that a change is an improvement?
- 3. What changes can we make that will result in improvement?

Figure 4. Institute for Healthcare Improvement (IHI) Model for Improvement<sup>76</sup>





**Figure 5.** Hypertension in Pregnancy Change Package Focus Areas

The answers to these questions will help identify specific quality improvement objectives and related metrics, and you can choose corresponding change ideas from the HPCP that align with your objectives. Each strategy you choose should first be tested on a small scale (i.e., with "small tests of change") to assess feasibility and allow the team to evaluate and adjust before instituting the change on a broader, more permanent scale. This approach can be accomplished using **Plan-Do-Study-Act** (**PDSA**) cycles.

The HPCP is broken down into four focus areas: key foundations, equipping care teams, population health management, and individual patient supports (**Figure 5**).

Tables 2–5 contain a list of change concepts and change ideas relevant to hypertension in pregnancy that clinicians and practices have successfully implemented to improve hypertension management. Each change idea is paired with several tools and resources suggested by experts in the field who have successfully used them. See the acknowledgements and contributors page for content contributors.

- **Key Foundations** (Table 2) offers ways to establish practice foundations for effective hypertension in pregnancy management efforts and is likely the best place to focus initial quality improvement efforts. This includes identifying a champion to provide leadership on focused quality improvement efforts and making hypertension in pregnancy management a practice priority.
- Equipping Care Teams (Table 3) lists strategies related to training and preparing clinicians and other care team members to focus on hypertension in pregnancy management. Strategies include supporting patient medication adherence and other forms of self-management.
- **Population Health Management** (Table 4) presents population management tools and approaches to proactively monitor and manage hypertension in pregnancy on a practice level. Tools and approaches include clinician-driven treatment protocols and using practice data to drive improvement.
- Individual Patient Supports (Table 5) lists ways that practices can support individual patients to better manage their hypertension. These supports span the patient care spectrum, including pre-visit patient outreach, check-in opportunities, interactions during the visit, checkout, and after-visit reinforcement.

## How to Measure Quality Improvement Efforts

It is essential to monitor and measure QI efforts—both outcomes and processes. Overall outcomes such as improved BP control (see Appendix D for more information on clinical quality measures) are important to measure, but it is also important to monitor process measures, such as the percentage of pregnant women at higher risk of preeclampsia who are prescribed aspirin prophylaxis. These types of data can provide much-needed feedback on whether the interventions you are using are being consistently implemented.

Begin by collecting baseline data on a process that you are interested in improving. Then test your "change ideas" on a pilot scale using a small number of patients and discuss identified potential barriers to implementation with staff. These small tests of change can be used to assess the success of implementing an intervention and allow staff to make needed refinements prior to scaling up the project to a larger level.

A helpful tool for displaying and monitoring efforts over time is a run chart, a graph that displays performance on a given process or outcome longitudinally. It can be useful to chart performance over time to inform decision makers and other interested parties of the reasons recommended changes are needed. You can then document when specific changes were made to show the impact that implemented changes yielded on performance (**Figure 6**). See Appendix C for additional QI tools and resources.



#### Figure 6. Example of a Run Chart



## Change Concepts, Change Ideas, and Tools and Resources

**Bold font** indicates health care settings that contributed content.

Table 2. Key Foundations		
Change Concepts	Change Ideas	Tools and Resources
	Designate a practice or health system champion to lead quality improvement efforts for HTN in pregnancy	<ul> <li>Call to Action: Maternal Health and Saving Mothers: A Policy Statement From the American Heart Association. Mehta LS, et al., 2021.<sup>77</sup></li> <li>Promoting Risk Identification and Reduction of Cardiovascular Disease in Women Through Collaboration With Obstetricians and Gynecologists: A Presidential Advisory From the American Heart Association and the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. Brown HL, et al., 2018.<sup>2</sup></li> </ul>
	Involve all team members in addressing HTN in pregnancy (e.g., primary care and obstetric clinicians, nursing staff, front desk staff, administrators, social workers)	<ul> <li>AMGF—Measure Up Pressure Down Provider Toolkit to Improve Hypertension Control: <u>Plank 7: All Team Members Trained in Importance of BP Goals and Metrics</u></li> <li>Community Preventive Services Task Force—Guide to Community Preventive Services: <u>Heart Disease and Stroke Prevention: Team-based Care to Improve</u> Blood Pressure Control</li> </ul>
		Kaiser Permanente—Innovative pregnancy care model surrounds mothers with safety net of support
Make HTN in		<ul> <li>ACOG Committee Opinion No. 736: Optimizing Postpartum Care. McKinney J, et al., 2018.<sup>22</sup></li> <li>» Table 2. Postpartum Care Team</li> </ul>
Pregnancy Identification and Management		UNC Collaborative for Maternal and Infant Health—Outpatient Hypertension Management 2022: <u>Front Desk/Clinic Call Center Triage Flow Chart for</u> <u>Pregnant/Postpartum Patients with possible Severe Hypertensive Emergency</u>
a Practice or System Priority	Expand the care team to include community health workers, community pharmacists, doulas, and/or patient navigators	CDC—Advancing Team-Based Care Through Collaborative Practice Agreements: A Resource and Implementation Guide for Adding Pharmacists to the Care Team
		<ul> <li><u>Beyond Contraception: Pharmacist Roles to Support Maternal Health</u>. DiPietro Mager N, et al., 2022.<sup>78</sup></li> </ul>
		• Promising practices and pockets of excellence: Community pharmacists supporting wellness for reproductive-age women. DiPietro Mager N, et al., 2022. <sup>79</sup>
		<ul> <li>National Alliance of State Pharmacy Associations—<u>Maternal Health Service</u> <u>Set for Pharmacists</u></li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>Sinai Urban Health Institute, Sinai Health System—<u>Best Practice Guidelines for</u> <u>Implementing and Evaluating Community Health Worker Programs in Health</u> <u>Care Settings</u></li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>Minnesota Department of Health—<u>Community Health Worker (CHW) Toolkit:</u> <u>A Guide for Employers</u></li> </ul>
		Center for Community Health Alignment— <u>CHW Model Best Practice Toolkits:</u> <u>Community Health Worker Model Best Practice Toolkit for Designing,</u> <u>Implementing and Showing Impact</u>



Table 2. Key Foundations (continued)		
Change Concepts	Change Ideas	Tools and Resources
	Expand the care team to include community health workers, community pharmacists, doulas, and/or patient navigators (continued)	<ul> <li>Community Preventive Services Task Force—Guide to Community Preventive Services: Heart Disease and Stroke Prevention: Interventions Engaging Community Health Workers</li> <li>UConn Health—Million Hearts® Self-Monitoring Blood Pressure (SMBP) Grant: Pharmacist Consult (slide 9)</li> <li>Primary Maternity Care—<u>The Connecticut Doula Integration Toolkit</u></li> <li>ASPE—<u>Doula Care and Maternal Health: An Evidence Review</u></li> <li>Bridging the postpartum gap: Best practices for training of obstetric patient navigators. Yee LM, et al., 2021.<sup>80</sup></li> </ul>
		CMQCC—Improving Health Care Response to Hypertensive Disorders of Pregnancy Toolkit: <u>Appendix I. Checklist 7: HDP Education for</u> <u>Administrative Staff</u>
		<ul> <li>CMQCC—Improving Health Care Response to Hypertensive Disorders of Pregnancy Toolkit: <u>Appendix D. Preeclampsia Screening Tools</u></li> </ul>
Make HTN in		<ul> <li>RHNTC—<u>Recognize Postpartum Warning Signs Poster for Non-Obstetrical</u> <u>Clinical Staff</u> [poster]</li> </ul>
Pregnancy Identification	Train all patient-facing	• CDC—Hear Her® Campaign
and Management	staff on recognizing warning signs and escalation of care	» <u>Urgent Maternal Warning Signs</u> » Healthcare Professionals
a Practice or System Priority		GaPQC— <u>Cardiac Warning Watch Badge Buddy</u>
(continued)		GaPQC—Cardiac Warning Watch [poster]
		• UNC Collaborative for Maternal and Infant Health—Outpatient Hypertension Management: Front Desk/Clinic Call Center Triage Flow Chart for Pregnant/ Postpartum Patients with possible Severe Hypertensive Emergency
		CMQCC—Improving Health Care Response to Hypertensive Disorders of Pregnancy Toolkit Webinar: <u>Quality Improvement Opportunities to Improve</u> <u>Recognition of HDP</u>
	Ensure care team engagement by providing education on HTN in pregnancy and role of health care team	<ul> <li>NACHC—Million Hearts<sup>®</sup> Hiding in Plain Sight Consolidated Change Package: <u>Appendix A: Health Center Staff Engagement Material – Hiding in Plain Sight</u> (<u>HIPS</u>), Grace Community Health Center</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>AMGF—Measure Up Pressure Down Provider Toolkit to Improve Hypertension Control: <u>Plank 7: All Team Members Trained in Importance of BP Goals</u> <u>and Metrics</u></li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>Million Hearts<sup>®</sup>/NACHC—<u>Learning Lab: Optimizing Use of the Expanded Care</u> <u>Team</u> [video] (may be adapted for pregnant populations)</li> </ul>
		Preeclampsia Foundation— <u>Resources for Nurses</u>



Table 2. Key Foundations (continued)		
Change Concepts	Change Ideas	Tools and Resources
		• Figure 2. Timing of CVD risk factor follow-up within the first year postpartum. Page 28, Poon LC, et al., 2023. <sup>81</sup>
		<ul> <li>Table 2. Example of Cardiovascular Risk Management After a Hypertensive Disorder of Pregnancy. Page 1370, Spaan J, et al., 2012.<sup>82</sup></li> </ul>
	Establish policy of care transitions from	<ul> <li>Obstetric Care Consensus No. 8: Interpregnancy Care. ACOG and SMFM. 2019.<sup>83</sup></li> <li>» Table 2: Specific Health Conditions</li> </ul>
Make HTN in Pregnancy Identification	pregnancy care to primary care and/or cardiology for long-term	• ACOG Committee Opinion No. 736: Optimizing Postpartum Care. McKinney J, et al., 2018. <sup>22</sup>
and Management a Practice or	management of HTN and cardiovascular risk	» <u>Figure 1. Proposed paradigm shift for postpartum visits</u> » <u>Box 1. Components of Postpartum Care</u>
System Priority (continued)		<ul> <li>Longer-term cardiovascular follow-up. Page 204, Roberts JM, et al., 2023.<sup>84</sup></li> </ul>
(continued)		<ul> <li>ACC—Postpartum Hypertension Clinic Development Toolkit: Part II. Clinic models/framework</li> </ul>
		HRSA— <u>Find a Health Center</u> (multiple languages available)
	Redesign clinical spaces to support proper BP measurement technique	Plymouth Family Physicians— <u>Blood Pressure Lounge</u>
		Target: BP—BP Positioning Tool
	Develop quality metrics for HTN in women of reproductive age (e.g., pre-pregnancy and inter-pregnancy)	CMS—CMS165v9: Controlling High Blood Pressure
		CMS—CMS22v12: <u>Preventive Care and Screening: Screening for High Blood</u> <u>Pressure and Follow-Up Documented</u>
		<ul> <li>CMS Quality Payment Program—Quality ID #487: <u>Screening for Social Drivers</u> of Health</li> </ul>
Incorporate Quality Metrics for HTN in Pregnancy into Organizational Strategic Plans	Develop quality metrics for HTN management in pregnancy and the postpartum period	<ul> <li>Society for Maternal-Fetal Medicine Special Statement: Quality metric for timely postpartum follow-up after severe hypertension. SMFM, et al., 2022.<sup>85</sup></li> <li>» Suggested Quality Indicators. Page B20, Patient Safety and Quality Committee, et al., 2020.<sup>15</sup></li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>Society for Maternal-Fetal Medicine Special Statement: Prophylactic low-dose aspirin for preeclampsia prevention—quality metric and opportunities for quality improvement. SMFM, et al. 2023.<sup>86</sup></li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>ILPQC—ILPQC Maternal Hypertension Grand Rounds Slide Set: <u>Maternal</u> <u>Hypertension Data: Patient Follow-Up (slide 84)</u></li> </ul>
	Develop quality metrics for long-term cardiovascular disease risk mitigation in women with history of HTN in pregnancy	



Table 2. Key Foundations (continued)		
Change Concepts	Change Ideas	Tools and Resources
Prioritize Ease of Access to Care	Provide BP checks without appointment or co-pay	Cheshire Medical Center/Dartmouth-Hitchcock—Patient Instruction for Nurse Clinic Blood Pressure Check
	Assist pregnant women with health insurance enrollment	<ul> <li>APA—<u>Medicaid for Pregnant Women</u></li> <li>CMS—<u>Medicaid</u></li> <li>KFF—<u>Medicaid Postpartum Coverage Extension Tracker</u></li> </ul>
	Incorporate virtual appointments/ telemedicine when appropriate, such as in follow-up of SMBP readings	<ul> <li>Society for Maternal-Fetal Medicine Special Statement: Telemedicine in obstetrics—quality and safety considerations. SMFM, et al., 2023.<sup>87</sup></li> <li>» Table 1. Selected applications of telemedicine for obstetrical care</li> <li>» Table 3. Potential quality metrics to evaluate telemedicine programs</li> <li>• AMA—Q&amp;A: Innovating in maternal health to address 3 key factors</li> </ul>
Implement a Policy or Process to Address BP for Every Patient at Every Visit	Develop policies and procedures to reflect prioritization of HTN diagnosis and management	<ul> <li>RHNTC—Hypertension Prevention and Control Site Assessment</li> <li>Box 1. Severe Hypertension During Pregnancy and the Postpartum Period Patient Safety Bundle: Council on Patient Safety in Women's Health Care. Page 349, Bernstein PS, et al., 2017.<sup>88</sup></li> <li>CMQCC—Improving Health Care Response to Hypertensive Disorders of Pregnancy Toolkit: Appendix I. Checklist 1: Prenatal HDP Education for All Pregnant Women</li> <li>IPQIC—Hypertension in Pregnancy-Ambulatory Readiness Assessment</li> <li>AMGF—Measure Up Pressure Down Provider Toolkit to Improve Hypertension Control: Plank 3: BP Addressed for Every Hypertension Patient at Every Primary Care or Cardiology Visit</li> <li>AMGF—Measure Up Pressure Down Provider Toolkit to Improve Hypertension Control: Plank 8, Tool 5: Standard Work Form, Automatic Omron Blood Pressure (may be adapted for OBGYN settings and other devices)</li> <li>Promoting Risk Identification and Reduction of Cardiovascular Disease in Women Through Collaboration with Obstetricians and Gynecologists: A Presidential Advisory From the American Heart Association and the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. Brown HL, et al., 2018.<sup>2</sup></li> <li>Screening for Hypertensive Disorders of Pregnancy: U.S. Preventive Services Task Force Final Recommendation Statement. USPSTF, et al., 2023.<sup>62</sup></li> </ul>



Table 2. Key Foundations (continued)			
Change Concepts	Change Ideas	Tools and Resources	
Implement a Policy or Process to Address BP for Every Patient at Every Visit (continued)	Develop a process for appropriate testing for women with HTN in pregnancy, including target organ damage, secondary causes of chronic HTN, and preeclampsia	<ul> <li>ACOG Practice Bulletin No. 203: Chronic Hypertension in Pregnancy. ACOG Committee on Practice Bulletins—Obstetrics, et al., 2019.<sup>11</sup></li> <li>Which clinical tests are useful in the initial evaluation of a pregnant woman with chronic hypertension?</li> <li>Box 2. Tests for Baseline Evaluation for Chronic Hypertension in Pregnancy</li> <li>ACOG Practice Bulletin No. 222: Gestational Hypertension and Preeclampsia. ACOG Committee on Practice Bulletins—Obstetrics, et al., 2020.<sup>12</sup></li> <li>Definitions and Diagnostic Criteria for Hypertensive Disorders of Pregnancy</li> <li>Duke University School of Medicine—Management of Hypertension Guideline</li> </ul>	
	Develop a flowchart/ workflow for proactively tracking and managing women with HTN in pregnancy (standard model for follow-up [e.g., telehealth/text reminders])	<ul> <li>NYC DOHMH and HealthyHearts NYC—ABCS Toolkit for the Practice Facilitator: <u>Suggested Workflow for Blood Pressure Control</u> (may be adapted for use in pregnant population)</li> <li>Cheshire Medical Center/Dartmouth-Hitchcock—<u>Primary Care HTN</u> <u>Workflow</u> (may be adapted for use in pregnant populations)</li> </ul>	
	Overcome diagnostic and clinical inertia using algorithms and protocols specific to HTN in pregnancy	<ul> <li>Duke University School of Medicine—<u>Management of Hypertension Guideline</u></li> <li>UNC Collaborative for Maternal and Infant Health—<u>Management of Chronic Hypertension in Pregnancy</u></li> <li><u>BP Management</u>. Supplementary Appendix, Page 10, Tita AT, et al., 2022.<sup>66</sup></li> <li><u>Box 1. Severe Hypertension During Pregnancy and the Postpartum Period Patient Safety Bundle: Council on Patient Safety in Women's Health Care: Recognition and Prevention (Every Patient) and Response (Every Case of Severe Hypertension). Page 349, Bernstein PS, et al., 2017.<sup>88</sup></u></li> <li>CMQCC—Improving Health Care Response to Hypertensive Disorders of Pregnancy Toolkit: <u>Outpatient Management of Preeclampsia Without Severe Features</u></li> <li>Million Hearts<sup>®</sup> —<u>Elements Associated with Effective Adoption and Use of a Protocol: Insights from Key Stakeholders</u></li> <li><u>Appendix B. Health Care Provider Guidelines for Care of Individuals at Risk for Preeclampsia</u>. Page 212, Roberts JM, et al., 2023.<sup>84</sup></li> </ul>	



Table 2. Key Foundations (continued)		
Change Concepts	Change Ideas	Tools and Resources
	Develop a policy for aspirin prophylaxis in pregnancy	ACOG and SMFM— <u>Practice Advisory: Low-Dose Aspirin Use for the Prevention</u> of Preeclampsia and Related Morbidity and Mortality
		<ul> <li>USPSTF—<u>Aspirin Use to Prevent Preeclampsia and Related Morbidity and</u> <u>Mortality: Preventive Medication</u></li> </ul>
luculous and a		<ul> <li>Society for Maternal-Fetal Medicine Special Statement: Prophylactic low-dose aspirin for preeclampsia prevention-quality metric and opportunities for quality improvement. SMFM, et al. 2023.<sup>86</sup></li> </ul>
Implement a Policy or Process to Address BP for Every Patient	Develop a policy or process for immediate escalation of care/ treatment of severe HTN/ preeclampsia with severe features	<ul> <li>ACOG Practice Bulletin No. 203: Chronic Hypertension in Pregnancy.</li> <li>ACOG Committee on Practice Bulletins—Obstetrics, et al., 2019.<sup>11</sup></li> <li>» Control of Acute-Onset Severe Range Hypertension</li> </ul>
<b>at Every Visit</b> (continued)		<ul> <li>ACOG Practice Bulletin No. 222: Gestational Hypertension and Preeclampsia.</li> <li>ACOG Committee on Practice Bulletins—Obstetrics, et al., 2020.<sup>12</sup></li> <li>» Box 4. Conditions Precluding Expectant Management</li> </ul>
		ACOG District II— <u>Oral Nifedipine Algorithm</u>
		<ul> <li>UNC Collaborative for Maternal and Infant Health—<u>Outpatient Bundle for</u> <u>Severe Hypertension</u>; see Response section</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>UNC Collaborative for Maternal and Infant Health—<u>OB Hypertensive</u></li> <li><u>Emergency Nifedipine Task Checklist</u></li> </ul>
	Perform debriefs and	<ul> <li>UNC Collaborative for Maternal and Infant Health—Outpatient Hypertension Management 2022: Sample Debrief Outpatient Hypertension Tool</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>Council on Patient Safety in Women's Health Care—<u>Obstetric In-Situ Drill</u> <u>Program Manual</u></li> </ul>
	case reviews of complex	<ul> <li>Baptist Health College Little Rock—Plus Delta Debriefing Tool</li> </ul>
Promote a Culture of Safety for	cases	<ul> <li>PEARLS Healthcare Debriefing Tool. Bajaj K, et al., 2018.89</li> </ul>
Continued Process Evaluation and Improvement		<ul> <li>CMQCC—Improving Health Care Response to Hypertensive Disorders of Pregnancy Toolkit: <u>Appendix Q Guidance for Rapid Debrief and Sample Form</u> (may be adapted for outpatient setting)</li> </ul>
	Perform regular simulation drills for severe HTN	<ul> <li>UNC Collaborative for Maternal and Infant Health—<u>Outpatient Hypertension</u> <u>Simulation Scenario</u></li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>CMQCC—Improving Health Care Response to Hypertensive Disorders of Pregnancy: <u>The Role of Medical Simulation</u> (may be adapted for outpatient setting)</li> </ul>



Table 2. Key Foundations (continued)		
Change Concepts	Change Ideas	Tools and Resources
	Assess organizational capacity to deliver equitable, respectful patient care	<ul> <li>IHI—Improving Health Equity: Assessment Tool for Health Care Organizations</li> <li>Project Implicit—Implicit Association Tests</li> <li>CDC—Hear Her® Campaign: Clinical Resources and Tools         <ul> <li>» Especially Implicit Bias and Stigma and Health Equity and Cultural Awareness</li> <li>The Joint Commission—Quick Safety 23: Implicit bias in health care             <ul></ul></li></ul></li></ul>
Prioritize Respectful, Culturally Sensitive Care	Implement policies or processes to train all patient-facing staff in respectful and culturally safe communication, being mindful of communication needs and various family structures and cultural practices	<ul> <li>CMQCC—Improving Health Care Response to Hypertensive Disorders of Pregnancy Toolkit: <u>Patient Education</u></li> <li>» Especially <u>Offering COMFORT</u></li> <li>CMQCC—Improving Health Care Response to Hypertensive Disorders of Pregnancy: <u>Talking with Women and their Families About HDP (slide 58)</u></li> <li><u>Table 5. Definition of Respectful Maternity Care</u>. Page 12, Cantor AG, et al., 2024.<sup>90</sup></li> <li>Northern Health—Indigenous Health Cultural Safety: Respect and Dignity in Relationships</li> <li><u>ACOG Committee Opinion No. 587: Effective Patient-Physician Communication</u>. 2014.<sup>91</sup></li> <li>AIM—Revised Severe Hypertension in Pregnancy Implementation Webinar: <u>Infusing Equity &amp; Respectful Care (20:55)</u></li> <li>AWHONN—<u>SBAR for Inclusive and Equitable Patient Care</u></li> </ul>



Table 3. Equipping Care Teams		
Change Concepts	Change Ideas	Tools and Resources
	Adopt a clinician/staff training policy to train and retrain staff on BP measurement	<ul> <li>AMGF—Measure Up Pressure Down Provider Toolkit to Improve Hypertension Control: <u>Plank 1, Tool 9: Blood Pressure Champion and CDS Education and</u> <u>Auditing</u> (can be adapted to OBGYN settings)</li> </ul>
		• <u>Table 8. Checklist for Accurate Measurement of BP</u> . Page e23, Whelton PK, et al., 2017. <sup>65</sup>
		<ul> <li>Target: BP—<u>7 Simple Tips to Get an Accurate Blood Pressure Reading</u></li> <li>Target: BP—<u>BP Positioning Tool</u></li> </ul>
		• Atrium Health Wake Forest Baptist (formerly Cornerstone Health Care)—How to Take Blood Pressure Properly: The Wrong Way [video]
	Provide guidance on	<ul> <li>Atrium Health Wake Forest Baptist (formerly Cornerstone Health Care)— How to Take Blood Pressure Properly: The Right Way [video]</li> </ul>
Train and Evaluate Direct Care Staff	measuring BP accurately	<ul> <li>Cheshire Medical Center/Dartmouth-Hitchcock—Obtaining Accurate Blood Pressure Measurements in the Ambulatory Setting: <u>How do you size a blood</u> pressure cuff? (slides 14-18)</li> </ul>
on Accurate BP Measurement and Documentation		<ul> <li>AMGF—Measure Up Pressure Down Provider Toolkit to Improve Hypertension Control: <u>Plank 1, Tool 11: Blood Pressure Accuracy and Variability Quick</u> <u>Reference, HealthPartners</u></li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>Preeclampsia Foundation—<u>Accurate Blood Pressure Measurement</u></li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>ILPQC—Illinois Maternal Hypertension Initiative Comprehensive Slide Set: Importance of Obtaining Accurate Blood Pressure (slides 36-41)</li> </ul>
	Assess adherence to proper BP measurement technique	• Target: BP— <u>Technique quick-check</u>
		<ul> <li>AMGF—Measure Up Pressure Down Provider Toolkit to Improve Hypertension Control         » Plank 1, Tool 9: Blood Pressure Champion and CDS Education and Auditing             Process for New Staff, HealthPartners     </li> </ul>
		» Plank 1, Tool 10: Quarterly Blood Pressure Auditing Tool, HealthPartners
		» <u>Plank 4, Tool 4: Blood Pressure Spot Check</u> , <b>Kaiser Permanente</b> » Plank 1, Tool 8: New Employee Blood Pressure Measurement Initial
		Competency Checklist, HealthPartners
13_02		IPQIC—Blood Pressure Competency Checklist
Train Direct Care Staff on		<ul> <li><u>ACOG Practice Bulletin No. 203: Chronic Hypertension in Pregnancy</u>. ACOG Committee on Practice Bulletins—Obstetrics, et al., 2019.<sup>11</sup></li> </ul>
	Provide guidance	• ACOG Practice Bulletin No. 222: Gestational Hypertension and Preeclampsia. ACOG Committee on Practice Bulletins—Obstetrics, et al., 2020. <sup>12</sup>
Interpretation of BP Measurements	on diagnosis and classification of HTN in pregnancy	ACOG Committee on Practice Buildins—Obstetrics, et al., 2020. <sup>12</sup> ACOG — Maternal Safety Bundle for Severe Hypertension in Pregnancy
and Diagnosis of HTN in Pregnancy		<ul> <li>(slides 12-14)</li> <li>Figure 3. Definitions of Hypertensive Disorders of Pregnancy. Page 1805, Park K, et al., 2021.<sup>69</sup></li> </ul>



Table 3. Equipping Care Teams (continued)		
Change Concepts	Change Ideas	Tools and Resources
Train Direct Care Staff on Interpretation of	Use algorithms/ flowcharts for management of HTN in pregnancy, including recognition of severe HTN	<ul> <li>UNC Collaborative for Maternal and Infant Health—<u>Management of Chronic</u> <u>Hypertension in Pregnancy</u></li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>UNC Collaborative for Maternal and Infant Health—<u>Outpatient Severe</u> <u>Hypertension Evaluation and Management: ≥20 weeks' gestation</u></li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>CMQCC—Improving Health Care Response to Hypertensive Disorders of Pregnancy Toolkit: <u>Appendix B. Suspected Preeclampsia Algorithm</u></li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>ACOG—Maternal Safety Bundle for Severe Hypertension in Pregnancy (slide 29)</li> </ul>
BP Measurements and Diagnosis of		Duke University School of Medicine— <u>Management of Hypertension Guideline</u>
HTN in Pregnancy (continued)		<ul> <li>UNC Collaborative for Maternal and Infant Health—<u>Outpatient Severe</u> <u>Hypertension Evaluation and Management: ≤4 weeks Postpartum</u></li> </ul>
(continued)		<ul> <li>UNC Collaborative for Maternal and Infant Health—Outpatient Hypertension Management 2022: Treatment of Severe Range Blood Pressure: The Pregnant Patient</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>ACC—Postpartum Hypertension Clinic Development Toolkit: <u>Part IV.</u></li> <li><u>Postpartum blood pressure management: Approach to Medication</u> <u>Titration</u></li> </ul>
		• ACOG Practice Bulletin No. 203: Chronic Hypertension in Pregnancy. ACOG Committee on Practice Bulletins—Obstetrics, et al., 2019. <sup>11</sup>
		» Box 2. Tests for Baseline Evaluation for Chronic Hypertension in Pregnancy
Train Care Teams on Appropriate Laboratory Assessment Related to HTN in Pregnancy	Provide guidance on laboratory tests indicated for chronic HTN, including assessment for end-organ damage and secondary HTN	<ul> <li>Table S3. Secondary causes of hypertension in pregnancy among young women. Supplementary Materials, Page 4, Garovic VD, et al., 2022.<sup>4</sup></li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>FPQC—Florida Hypertension in Pregnancy Toolkit: <u>Secondary Causes of</u> <u>Hypertension</u></li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>Table 13. Causes of Secondary Hypertension With Clinical Indications and Diagnostic Screening Tests. Page e30, Whelton PK, et al., 2018.<sup>65</sup></li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>IPQIC—<u>Ambulatory Preeclampsia Checklist</u> (Chronic Hypertension Management box)</li> </ul>
	Provide guidance on laboratory testing for preeclampsia, including urine protein measurement	• ACOG Practice Bulletin No. 222: Gestational Hypertension and Preeclampsia. ACOG Committee on Practice Bulletins—Obstetrics, et al., 2020. <sup>12</sup>
		» Box 2. Diagnostic Criteria for Preeclampsia
		<ul> <li>CMQCC—Improving Health Care Response to Hypertensive Disorders of Pregnancy Toolkit: <u>Proteinuria</u></li> </ul>
		IPQIC— <u>Ambulatory Preeclampsia Checklist</u>



Table 3. Equipping Care Teams (continued)		
Change Concepts	Change Ideas	Tools and Resources
	Train staff on indications for antihypertensive therapies in pregnancy and postpartum	ACOG— <u>Practice Advisory: Clinical Guidance for the Integration of the</u> Findings of the Chronic Hypertension and Pregnancy (CHAP) Study
		Society for Maternal-Fetal Medicine Statement: Antihypertensive therapy for mild chronic hypertension in pregnancy—The Chronic Hypertension and Pregnancy trial. SMFM, et al., 2022. <sup>68</sup>
		<ul> <li>ACC—<u>Under Pressure: Discussion of the CHAP Trial and Management of</u> <u>Hypertension in Pregnancy (webinar)</u></li> </ul>
		• ACOG Practice Bulletin No. 222: Gestational Hypertension and Preeclampsia. ACOG Committee on Practice Bulletins—Obstetrics, et al., 2020. <sup>12</sup>
		» <u>Table 3. Antihypertensive Agents Used for Urgent Blood Pressure Control</u> in Pregnancy
		<ul> <li>ACC—Postpartum Hypertension Clinic Development Toolkit: <u>Part IV. Postpartum</u> <u>blood pressure management</u></li> </ul>
		• See <u>Table 1</u> above
	Provide guidance on selection of preferred antihypertensives in pregnancy and lactation	<ul> <li>Table 4. Preferred Agents for Antihypertensive Treatment in Pregnancy.</li> <li>Page 1806, Park K, et al., 2021.<sup>69</sup></li> </ul>
		• <u>Table 5. Antihypertensives and Breast Feeding</u> . Lower portion of Page 1806, Park K, et al., 2021. <sup>69</sup>
Equip Care		<ul> <li>Figure 3. Antihypertensive medications and anticoagulants used during pregnancy. Page e886, Mehta LS, et al., 2020.<sup>3</sup></li> </ul>
Teams to Provide Appropriate Medications		<ul> <li>ACC—Postpartum Hypertension Clinic Development Toolkit: <u>Part IV.</u></li> <li><u>Postpartum blood pressure management: Medication Therapy</u></li> <li><u>Options</u></li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>NICHD—<u>LactMed® Drugs and Lactation Database</u></li> </ul>
		MotherToBaby®
		» Exposure Information Service - Ask Our Experts [phone service] » Cardiology & Lipidology [fact sheets]
	Train staff on indications for aspirin prophylaxis during pregnancy to prevent preeclampsia	ACOG and SMFM— <u>Practice Advisory: Low-Dose Aspirin Use for the Prevention</u> of Preeclampsia and Related Morbidity and Mortality
		<ul> <li>CMQCC—Improving Health Care Response to Hypertensive Disorders of Pregnancy Toolkit: <u>Low-Dose Aspirin for Prevention</u></li> </ul>
		CMQCC—Low-Dose Aspirin (LDA) Campaign to Reduce Preeclampsia and Related Preterm Birth (slide set)
		• <u>Table 1. Risk factors for developing preeclampsia</u> . Page 196, Roberts JM, et al., 2023. <sup>84</sup>
	Use checklists, algorithms, and decision trees to ensure aspirin prophylaxis is prescribed for all pregnant women who meet indications	OPQIC—Preeclampsia Risk Assessment
		OPQIC—Low-Dose Aspirin (81mg) in Pregnancy Decision Tree
		OPQIC— <u>LDA Clinical Workflow</u>



Table 3. Equipping Care Teams (continued)		
Change Concepts	Change Ideas	Tools and Resources
Equip Care Teams to Provide Appropriate Medications (continued)	Facilitate access to prescription medications	AMA— <u>Medication Management: Save Time by Simplifying Your Prescribing</u> <u>and Refill Process</u> (may be adapted for pregnant populations)
	Provide guidance and access to safe contraceptive options	CDC—Summary Chart of U.S. Medical Eligibility Criteria for Contraceptive Use     ACOG District XII—Cardiac Disease and Pregnancy
		ACC—Postpartum Hypertension Clinic Development Toolkit: <u>Part VII.</u> Appendices and References: Contraception Appendix
		• Cardio-Obstetrics Part 5: Contraception and Reproductive Planning for Women With Cardiovascular Disease: JACC Focus Seminar. Lindley KJ, et al., 2021. <sup>92</sup>
		<ul> <li>RHNTC—Putting the QFP Into Practice Series Toolkit: Contraceptive Counseling and Education</li> </ul>
		• RHNTC—Contraceptive Counseling for a Client With Hypertension [video]
	Use algorithms and checklists for identification of severe HTN and next steps	<ul> <li>ACOG—Maternal Safety Bundle for Severe Hypertension in Pregnancy (slide 29)</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>FPQC—Florida Hypertension in Pregnancy Toolkit: <u>Suspected Preeclampsia</u> <u>Algorithm</u></li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>UNC Collaborative for Maternal and Infant Health—<u>Outpatient Severe</u> <u>Hypertension Evaluation and Management: ≥20 weeks' gestation</u></li> </ul>
Equip Care Teams for Timely Escalation of Care for Treatment of Acute Severe HTN in Pregnancy		<ul> <li>UNC Collaborative for Maternal and Infant Health—<u>Outpatient Severe</u> <u>Hypertension Evaluation and Management: ≤4 weeks Postpartum</u></li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>UNC Collaborative for Maternal and Infant Health—<u>Outpatient Hypertension</u> <u>Management 2022: Treatment of Severe Range Blood Pressure: The</u> <u>Pregnant Patient</u></li> </ul>
		ACOG District II—Oral Nifedipine Algorithm
		<ul> <li>UNC Collaborative for Maternal and Infant Health—<u>OB Hypertensive</u></li> <li><u>Emergency Nifedipine Task Checklist</u></li> </ul>
	Develop a plan for escalation of care and/or emergency transport	<ul> <li>Society for Maternal-Fetal Medicine Special Statement: A maternal transport briefing form and checklist: Box: Sample maternal transport briefing form and checklist. Society for Maternal-Fetal Medicine, et al., 2020.<sup>93</sup></li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>Maine Center for Disease Control &amp; Prevention—Best Practice Recommendations for Handoff Communication During Transport from a Home or Freestanding Birth Center To a Hospital Setting: <u>Appendix A. Brief SBAR Script for Phone</u> <u>Call Initiating Transport by EMS</u></li> </ul>



Table 3. Equipping Care Teams (continued)		
Change Concepts	Change Ideas	Tools and Resources
	Provide supports for managing cardiovascular risk in women with HTN in pregnancy	<ul> <li>CMQCC—Improving Health Care Response to Hypertensive Disorders of Pregnancy Toolkit: <u>Appendix I. Checklist 6: Immediate and long-term</u> <u>follow-up Counseling for Women after a HDP Diagnosis</u></li> <li><u>Table 2. Specific Health Conditions</u>. Page B7, ACOG and SMFM, 2019.<sup>83</sup></li> <li><u>Hypertensive disorders of pregnancy and long-term cardiovascular health:</u> <u>FIGO Best Practice Advice</u>. Poon LC, et al., 2023.<sup>81</sup></li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>NSDPQC—Hypertension Project 2021-2022: Learning Session 1: <u>Follow-up</u> <u>After Discharge</u></li> <li>Preeclampsia Foundation—Long Term Impact</li> </ul>
		Preeclampsia Foundation <u>Resources for Nurses</u>
Equip Care		Lifestyle Modification for CVD Risk Factor Reduction Among Women With APOs. Parikh NI, et al., 2021.94
Teams to Manage Immediate and Long-Term		<ul> <li>Figure. Cardiovascular disease assessment in pregnant and postpartum women. Page 200, Roberts JM, et al., 2023.<sup>84</sup></li> </ul>
and Long-Ierm Cardiovascular Risk in Women with HTN in Pregnancy	Employ checklists for addressing cardiovascular risk related to HTN in pregnancy	<ul> <li>CMQCC—Improving Health Care Response to Hypertensive Disorders of Pregnancy Toolkit: <u>Appendix I. Checklist 6: Immediate and long-term</u> follow-up Counseling for Women after a HDP Diagnosis</li> </ul>
		Table 2. Example of Cardiovascular Risk Management After a Hypertensive Disorder of Pregnancy. Page 1370, Spaan J, et al., 2012. <sup>82</sup>
		<ul> <li>Figure 6. The Fourth Trimester: From Delivery to 12 Weeks Postpartum. Davis MB, et al., 2021.<sup>41</sup></li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>Table 2. Specific Health Conditions. Page B7, ACOG and SMFM, 2019.<sup>83</sup></li> </ul>
		Appendix B. Health Care Provider Guidelines for Care of Individuals at Risk for Preeclampsia. Page 212, Roberts JM, et al., 2023. <sup>84</sup>
		<ul> <li>ACC—Postpartum Hypertension Clinic Development Toolkit: Part II. Clinic models/framework: Clinic activities</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>Table 4. Educational content for persons at risk for preeclampsia. Page 205, Roberts JM, et al., 2023.<sup>84</sup></li> </ul>



Table 3. Equipping Care Teams (continued)		
Change Concepts	Change Ideas	Tools and Resources
Equip Direct Care Staff to Facilitate Patient Self-Management	Train staff on motivational interviewing techniques and development of a shared action plan for lifestyle counseling	<ul> <li>Encouraging Patients to Change Unhealthy Behaviors With Motivational Interviewing. Stewart EE, Fox CH, 2011.<sup>95</sup></li> <li>» Especially OARS: A structure for putting motivational interviewing into practice</li> <li>FSU Center for Prevention and Early Intervention Policy—Substance Use Disorders in Pregnancy: A Chance to Break the Cycle: Motivational Interviewing – Promoting Healthy Behaviors</li> <li>» Especially The Motivational Interviewing Process</li> <li>AMA—Motivational Interviewing for Medication Adherence</li> <li>AMGF—Measure Up Pressure Down Provider Toolkit to Improve Hypertension Control: Plank 5, Tool 3: 5As Encounter Form, Mercy Clinics, Inc.</li> <li>Appendix B. Health Care Provider Guidelines for Care of Individuals at Risk for Preeclampsia. Page 212, Roberts JM, et al., 2023.<sup>84</sup></li> </ul>
	Ensure care team is skilled in supporting patient medication adherence	<ul> <li>Million Hearts®—<u>Improving Medication Adherence Among Patients With</u> <u>Hypertension: A Tip Sheet for Health Care Professionals</u></li> <li>NYC DOHMH and HealthyHearts NYC—ABCS Toolkit for the Practice Facilitator: <u>Suggested Workflow for Blood Pressure Control, Medication Adherence</u> <u>Workflow</u> (may be adapted for clinical setting)</li> <li>AMA—<u>Medication Adherence: Improve Patient Outcomes and Reduce Costs</u></li> <li>American College of Preventive Medicine—<u>Medication Adherence-Improving</u> <u>Health Outcomes (particularly Section 6)</u></li> </ul>
	Put a prevention, engagement, and self- management program in place	<ul> <li>California HealthCare Foundation—<u>Helping Patients Manage Their Chronic</u> <u>Conditions</u> (may be adapted for pregnant population)</li> </ul>



Table 3. Equipping Care Teams (continued)		
Change Concepts	Change Ideas	Tools and Resources
Establish an SMBP Monitoring Program	Make the case to the care team and practice leadership that SMBP is a useful tool for select women with HTN in pregnancy	<ul> <li>Million Hearts®/NACHC—Self-Measured Blood Pressure Monitoring Implementation Toolkit: <u>Planning for SMBP—Determining Your Goals and</u> <u>Priority Population</u> (may be adapted for pregnant populations)</li> <li>University of Chicago Medicine—<u>Postpartum Telehealth and Remote Patient</u> <u>Monitoring for Preeclampsia</u></li> <li>University of Chicago Medicine—<u>STAMPP HTN: Systematic Treatment And</u> <u>Management of Postpartum Hypertension</u></li> <li>Million Hearts®—<u>SMBP Forum September 2023 - Community Approach to</u> <u>SMBP in the Maternal Health Space</u> [webinar]</li> <li>NACDD—Million Hearts® Health Equity Implementation Project: <u>Huddle</u> <u>Up Moms</u></li> <li>UConn Health—Million Hearts® Self-Monitoring Blood Pressure (SMBP) Grant</li> <li>Management of Postpartum Hypertensive Disorders of Pregnancy. <u>Comparative Effectiveness Review No. 263</u>. Steele DW, et al., 2023.<sup>96</sup></li> <li>AMA—<u>SMBP Coverage Insights: Medicaid</u></li> </ul>
	Assign care team roles for an SMBP monitoring program and adapt the workflow accordingly	<ul> <li>Self-Measured Blood Pressure Telemonitoring Programs: A Pragmatic How- to Guide. McGrath D, et al., 2023.<sup>97</sup></li> <li>Million Hearts®/NACHC—Self-Measured Blood Pressure Monitoring Implementation Toolkit: <u>SMBP Monitoring Tasks by Role</u></li> <li>NACHC—Self-Measured Blood Pressure Monitoring Implementation Guide for Health Care Delivery Organizations: <u>Diagram 2: SMBP Model Design Checklist</u> and Key Questions</li> <li>NACHC—Self-Measurement: How patients and care teams are bringing blood pressure to control [video]</li> <li>AMA—<u>7-steps for SMBP</u> (may be adapted for pregnant populations)</li> </ul>
	Provide patients guidance on selecting an SMBP monitor	<ul> <li>AMA—<u>U.S. Blood Pressure Validated Device Listing</u> [filter by populations served: pregnant]</li> <li>STRIDE BP—<u>Validated Devices For Blood Pressure Measurement In Pregnancy/Preeclampsia</u></li> <li>Table 3. Oscillometric blood pressure devices validated for accuracy during pregnancy. Page 19, Ghazi L, Bello NA, 2021.<sup>98</sup></li> <li>NACHC—<u>Choosing a Home Blood Pressure Monitor for Your Practice: At-a-Glance-Comparison</u></li> <li>Target: BP—<u>Selecting a Cuff Size</u></li> </ul>


Table 3. Equipping Care Teams (continued)				
Change Concepts	ange Concepts Change Ideas Tools and Resources			
	Develop an SMBP monitor loaner program	<ul> <li>Target: BP—<u>SMBP Patient Training Checklist</u></li> <li>NACHC—Self-Measured Blood Pressure Monitoring Implementation Guide for Health Care Delivery Organizations: <u>Appendix Y: SMBP Loaner Program</u> <u>Policy &amp; Procedure - Cleaning and Care of Home BP Monitors</u>, Whitney M. Young, Jr. Health Center</li> <li>Target: BP—<u>SMBP Loaner Device Agreement</u></li> <li><b>Open Door Family Medical Centers</b>—<u>Blood Pressure Monitor Loan</u> <u>Agreement</u> (English and Spanish)</li> <li>Target: BP—<u>Inventory Management</u></li> <li>AMA—<u>SMBP Ioaner cleaning and disinfection procedure</u></li> </ul>		
	Train patients on SMBP monitor use and proper preparation and positioning	<ul> <li>Target: BP—<u>How to Measure Your Blood Pressure At Home infographic</u></li> <li>Target: BP—<u>SMBP Patient Training Checklist</u></li> <li>AMA—<u>Release the Pressure Self-Measured Blood Pressure Training</u> [video]</li> <li>Target: BP—<u>SMBP Training</u> [video] (English and Spanish)</li> <li>Target: BP—<u>SMBP Device Accuracy Test</u></li> </ul>		
Establish an SMBP Program (continued)	Develop a process for handling patient- generated BP readings	<ul> <li>Million Hearts®—Self-Measured Blood Pressure Monitoring: Action Steps for Clinicians: Suggested SMBP Measurement Protocol</li> <li>AMA—<u>BP Average Calculator</u></li> <li>Target: BP—<u>SMBP Average Calculator</u></li> <li>Million Hearts®/NACHC—Self-Measured Blood Pressure Monitoring Implementation Toolkit: Optimizing Management of Patient-Generated Health Data for SMBP Programs</li> <li>Public Health Informatics Institute—<u>Health IT Checklist for Blood Pressure Telemonitoring Software</u></li> <li>Weill Cornell Medicine—<u>HTN QI: How to set up blood pressure flowsheet correctly</u></li> <li>WellSpan Health—Severe Hypertension Treatment and Follow-Up in Pregnancy and the Postpartum: <u>WellSpan Health - Postpartum Blood</u> <u>Pressure Tracking</u></li> </ul>		
	Incorporate virtual appointments/ telemedicine for follow-up/counseling	<ul> <li>ACC—Postpartum Hypertension Clinic Development Toolkit: <u>Part V. Clinic</u> <u>example documents, dot phrases, and other materials: New Postpartum</u> <u>Telehealth Visit</u></li> </ul>		



Table 3. Equipping Care Teams (continued)				
Change Concepts	Change Ideas	Tools and Resources		
	Use a flowchart/ dashboard with care gaps highlighted in team huddles to help care teams better support patients	<ul> <li>Plymouth Family Physicians—<u>Health Maintenance Table</u> (may be adapted for pregnant populations)</li> <li>Plymouth Family Physicians—<u>Patient-Level Report</u> (may be adapted for pregnant populations)</li> </ul>		
Prepare the Care Team Beforehand for Effective HTN	Implement pre-visit	NSDPQC—Hypertension Project 2022: Learning Session 2: Example of EHR use for ASA Risk Factors		
Management During Encounters	planning into workflows and use clinical decision support (CDS) tools to	<ul> <li>CMQCC—Improving Health Care Response to Hypertensive Disorders of Pregnancy Toolkit: <u>Appendix C. Figure 1. Event Menu</u> (may be adapted for clinical setting)</li> </ul>		
	ensure indicated orders/ actions occur during the	<ul> <li>NACHC—Million Hearts<sup>®</sup> Hiding in Plain Sight Consolidated Change Package: Appendix O: CDS-Enabled BP Tool – NextGen, Golden Valley Health Centers</li> </ul>		
	visit	<ul> <li>NACHC—Million Hearts<sup>®</sup> Hiding in Plain Sight Consolidated Change Package: <u>Appendix P: CDS-Enabled BP Tool – eClinicalWorks, Neighborhood Healthcare</u></li> </ul>		
Promote Effective Communication Among Team	Utilize communication tools for handoffs, escalation of care, and event reporting	<ul> <li>CMQCC—Improving Health Care Response to Hypertensive Disorders of Pregnancy Toolkit: <u>Response</u></li> <li>» Especially <u>SBAR-R-R Communication Technique</u></li> <li><u>ACOG Committee Opinion No. 517: Communication strategies for patient</u> <u>handoffs</u>. 2012.<sup>99</sup></li> <li>AHRQ—<u>Warm Handoffs: A Guide for Clinicians</u></li> </ul>		
Members, Specialties, and Sites of Care	Provide a system for coordination of care among clinicians/ specialties	<ul> <li>ACOG Committee Opinion No. 736: Optimizing Postpartum Care. McKinney J, et al., 2018.<sup>22</sup></li> <li>» Table 2. Postpartum Care Team</li> <li>» Figure 1. Proposed paradigm shift for postpartum visits</li> <li>Figure. Cardiovascular disease assessment in pregnant and postpartum women. Page 200, Roberts JM, et al., 2023.<sup>84</sup></li> </ul>		
Provide Clinician-	Set and communicate specific, measurable performance and quality goals	• WisPQC— <u>Aims/Goals Worksheet</u>		
and System-Level Feedback on Progress and Impact	Monitor outcomes/ process metrics (e.g., track clinic and system performance to provide feedback to clinicians and decision makers)	<ul> <li>MNPQC—Family of Measures, Stratify by race/ethnicity (slide 2)</li> <li>RHNTC—<u>Hypertension Screening Performance Measure Calculator</u></li> <li>NACHC—Self-Measured Blood Pressure Monitoring Implementation Guide for Health Care Delivery Organizations: <u>Appendix Y – HIPS Performance Report/Care Team Data Monitoring, Golden Valley Health Centers</u></li> </ul>		



Table 4. Population Health Management			
Change Concepts Change Ideas		Tools and Resources	
		<ul> <li>Identifying Hypertension in Pregnancy using Electronic Medical Records: <u>The importance of Blood Pressure Values</u>. Chen L., et al., 2020.<sup>61</sup></li> <li>An Opportunity to Better Address Hypertension in Women: Self-Measured Blood Pressure Monitoring. Wall HK, et al., 2022.<sup>100</sup></li> </ul>	
	Establish clinical criteria to define potentially	<ul> <li>Patients With Undiagnosed Hypertension: Hiding in Plain Sight. Wall HK, et al., 2014.<sup>60</sup> (may be adapted for pregnant populations)</li> </ul>	
	undiagnosed HTN	<ul> <li>Table 1. Number of At-Risk Patients Identified by Each Hypertension Screening Algorithm. Page 355, Rakotz MK, et al., 2014.<sup>54</sup> (may be adapted for pregnant populations)</li> </ul>	
		<ul> <li>NACHC—Million Hearts<sup>®</sup> Hiding in Plain Sight Consolidated Change Package: <u>Appendix L: Undiagnosed Hypertension Algorithms and Clinical Criteria</u> <u>Decision Points, HIPS Project</u> (may be adapted for pregnant populations)</li> </ul>	
ldentify Women with Potentially Undiagnosed HTN	y Search EHR data for	<ul> <li>NACHC—Million Hearts<sup>®</sup> Hiding in Plain Sight Consolidated Change Package: <u>Appendix M: Potentially Undiagnosed Hypertension Algorithm used to</u> <u>Generate Registries and Reports - i2i Tracks, Golden Valley Health Centers</u> <u>and Tulare Community Health Clinic</u> (now Altura Centers for Health) (may be adapted for pregnant populations)</li> </ul>	
		<ul> <li>Identifying Patients With Hypertension: A Case for Auditing Electronic Health <u>Record Data</u>. Baus A, et al., 2012.<sup>58</sup> (may be adapted for pregnant populations)</li> <li>Plymouth Family Physicians—<u>Patient-Level Report</u> (may be adapted for pregnant populations)</li> </ul>	
	Implement a plan to confirm HTN status and treat as appropriate	<ul> <li>NACHC—Million Hearts<sup>®</sup> Hiding in Plain Sight Consolidated Change Package: <u>Appendix N: Patient Status and Opportunities Alert – eClinicalWorks,</u> <u>Neighborhood Healthcare</u></li> </ul>	
	Ensure accurate coding and diagnosis of pregnancy and HTN in	CMQCC—Improving Health Care Response to Hypertensive Disorders of Pregnancy Toolkit: <u>Documenting Maternal Hypertensive Diagnoses with</u> <u>Accurate ICD-10 Coding</u> » Especially Table 1. Frequency of HDP ICD-10 codes at delivery in California	
	pregnancy	AIM—Severe Hypertension in Pregnancy Patient Safety Bundle (2022): <u>AIM</u> <u>Severe Hypertension in Pregnancy ICD10 Codes List</u>	



Table 4. Population Health Management (continued)			
Change Concepts Change Ideas		Tools and Resources	
Use a Registry to	Implement a HTN registry for pertinent patient populations	<ul> <li>AMGF—Measure Up Pressure Down Provider Toolkit to Improve Hypertension Control: <u>Plank 6: Registry Used to Track Hypertension Patients</u></li> <li>ONC—<u>Quality Improvement in a Primary Care Practice</u> (Registry section and figure; may be adapted for pregnant populations)</li> </ul>	
Track and Manage Patients with HTN	Use a defined process for outreach (e.g., phone, mail, email, text message) to women with HTN in pregnancy	<ul> <li>NACHC—Million Hearts<sup>®</sup> Hiding in Plain Sight Consolidated Change Package: <u>Appendix V: HIPS Front Office Script, Golden Valley Health Centers</u></li> <li>Zufall Health—<u>Instructions to Schedule Follow Up Appointments</u></li> </ul>	
Use Clinician- Managed Protocols for Medication Adjustments and Lifestyle Recommendations	Use protocols to cover proactive outreach driven by registry use and respond to patient- submitted home BP readings	<ul> <li>Minnesota Board of Nursing—<u>FAQ: Use of Condition Specific Protocols</u></li> <li>Semiautonomous Treatment Algorithm for the Management of Severe <u>Hypertension in Pregnancy</u>. Martin C, et al., 2021.<sup>10</sup></li> <li>» Especially <u>Figure 1. Semiautonomous treatment algorithm integrated</u> <u>into the electronic medical record system for the treatment of severe</u> <u>hypertension in pregnancy</u> (may be modified for clinical setting)</li> </ul>	
Use Practice Data to Drive	Determine HTN control and related process metrics for the practice	<ul> <li>CMS—CMS22v12: <u>Preventive Care and Screening: Screening for High Blood</u> <u>Pressure and Follow-Up Documented</u></li> <li>CMS—CMS165v9: <u>Controlling High Blood Pressure</u> (may be adapted for pregnant populations)</li> </ul>	
Improvement	Regularly provide a dashboard with BP goals, metrics, and performance	• Marshfield Clinic Health System— <u>Hypertension Referral Dashboard</u>	



Table 5. Individual Patient Supports			
Change Concepts	Change Ideas	nge Ideas Tools and Resources	
Provide Patient Education on HTN	Provide women and their support systems with educational materials on HTN in pregnancy	<ul> <li>CDC—<u>High Blood Pressure</u></li> <li>CDC—<u>High Blood Pressure During Pregnancy</u></li> <li>ACOG—<u>FAQs: Preeclampsia and High Blood Pressure During Pregnancy</u></li> <li>ACOG—<u>Infographic: Preeclampsia and Pregnancy</u></li> <li>AHA—<u>Pregnancy and Maternal Health</u></li> <li>AHA—<u>Preeclampsia and High Blood Pressure</u></li> <li>Preeclampsia Foundation—Preeclampsia Tests <u>English   Spanish</u></li> <li>Preeclampsia Foundation—<u>Preeclampsia: a screening test for heart disease</u></li> <li>NHLBI—<u>Pregnancy and Your Heart Health</u></li> <li>NICHD—<u>Preeclampsia and Eclampsia</u></li> <li>CMQCC—<u>CVD Risk Infographic</u></li> <li>Preeclampsia Foundation—<u>Heart Disease &amp; Stroke</u></li> <li>ABC—<u>A collaborative patient-centered care team can make a difference</u></li> <li>March of Dimes—<u>Preeclampsia</u> (see page below video)</li> <li>CardioSmart—<u>Health Problems During Pregnancy Infographic</u></li> <li>Preeclampsia Foundation—<u>Signs And Symptoms of Preeclampsia</u></li> </ul>	
in Pregnancy	Educate women and their support systems to recognize and seek immediate attention for warning signs of HTN in pregnancy and serious acute cardiovascular events in pregnancy and the postpartum period	<ul> <li>CDC—Hear Her® Campaign</li> <li>» Conversation Guide and Palm Card for Pregnant or Recently Pregnant Women (available in multiple languages)</li> <li>» Conversation Guide and Palm Card for Families, Friends, and Partners (available in multiple languages)</li> <li>» Urgent Maternal Warning Signs Educational Materials (available in multiple languages)</li> <li>» Posters and Handouts for American Indian and Alaska Native Communities</li> <li>ACOG—Infographic: Preeclampsia and Pregnancy</li> <li>Preeclampsia Foundation—Postpartum Preeclampsia English   Spanish</li> <li>FPQC—Florida Hypertension in Pregnancy Toolkit: <u>Appendix A: Sample Discharge Sheet for Hypertensive Disorder Patients</u></li> <li>Preeclampsia Foundation—7 Symptoms Every Pregnant Woman Should Know [video] English   Spanish</li> <li>IPQIC—Preeclampsia Patient Education Tool</li> <li>ACOG—Infographic: Heart Disease and Pregnancy</li> <li>ACOG—Pregnancy Status Signs in English and Spanish</li> </ul>	



Table 5. Individual Patient Supports (continued)			
Change Concepts	inge Concepts Change Ideas Tools and Resources		
Provide Patient Education on HTN in Pregnancy (continued)	Provide patient education on aspirin prophylaxis to prevent preeclampsia for pregnant women at higher risk	<ul> <li>CMQCC—<u>Should I do Aspirin To Keep Me and My Baby Safe?</u></li> <li>March of Dimes—Health Action Sheet: Low-dose aspirin to prevent preeclampsia and premature birth         <u>English   Spanish</u></li> <li>Preeclampsia Foundation—Ask About Aspirin         <u>English   Spanish</u></li> <li>CMQCC—To Keep Baby and You Safe from Preeclampsia: Let's Do Aspirin!         <u>English   Spanish</u></li> </ul>	
Prepare Patients Before the Office Visit via Pre-Visit Patient Outreach	Contact patients to confirm upcoming appointments and provide instruction on how to prepare for their visit	<ul> <li>Washington State Department of Health—<u>Improving the Screening,</u> <u>Prevention, and Management of Hypertension: An Implementation Tool</u> <u>for Clinic Practice Teams. Key Message #1: Building Trust is Critical</u> (may be modified for pregnant populations)</li> </ul>	
	Provide patients with tools to support their visit agenda and goal setting	<ul> <li>Appendix A. Guidelines for Persons At-Risk for Preeclampsia. Page 210, Roberts JM, et al., 2023.<sup>84</sup></li> <li>NIH—Pregnancy Action Plan. BMI: Be More Informed</li> </ul>	
Optimize Patient Intake to Support HTN Management (e.g., check-in, waiting, rooming)	t repeat BP correctly as indicated; flag abnormal readings	<ul> <li>NACHC—Million Hearts<sup>®</sup> Hiding in Plain Sight Consolidated Change Package: <u>Appendix O: CDS-Enabled BP Tool – NextGen, Golden Valley Health Centers</u></li> <li>NACHC—Million Hearts<sup>®</sup> Hiding in Plain Sight Consolidated Change Package: <u>Appendix Q: Blood Pressure Flow Sheet with Red Framed Alerts for Elevated</u> <u>Blood Pressure Readings</u> –SuccessEHS, ARcare/KYcare</li> </ul>	
	Reconcile medications patient is actually taking with the EHR medication list	• Jupiter Medical Center— <u>Medical Reconciliation Form</u>	
Optimize the Patient-Clinician Encounter (e.g., documentation, orders, medication adherence assessment, education/ engagement)	Use documentation templates to help capture key data such as patient treatment goals and barriers to adherence		



Table 5. Individual Patient Supports (continued)			
Change Concepts Change Ideas		Tools and Resources	
	Use order sets and standing orders to support evidence- informed and individualized care	• Fort HealthCare— <u>OB Hypertension</u>	
		<ul> <li>AMGF—Measure Up Pressure Down Provider Toolkit to Improve Hypertension Control: Plank 4, Tool 1: Morisky Scale, Mercy Clinics, Inc.</li> </ul>	
	Assess medication adherence	<ul> <li>Million Hearts®/NACHC—<u>Learning Lab: Motivational Interviewing for</u> <u>Medication Adherence</u> [video]</li> </ul>	
		<ul> <li>Million Hearts<sup>®</sup>/NACHC—<u>Medication Adherence Town Hall</u> [video]</li> </ul>	
		<ul> <li>MotherToBaby<sup>®</sup>—<u>Fact Sheets</u> (available in English and Spanish)</li> </ul>	
Optimize the Patient-Clinician Encounter (e.g.,	Counsel on HTN in pregnancy by using communication techniques	CMQCC—Improving Health Care Response to Hypertensive Disorders of Pregnancy Toolkit: <u>Communication Practices: Communication Practices:</u> Debriefing and Offering COMFORT	
documentation, orders, medication adherence assessment,		<ul> <li>CMQCC—Improving Health Care Response to Hypertensive Disorders of Pregnancy Toolkit: <u>Appendix J. Sample Script: Physician Explanation of</u> <u>Hypertensive Disease Process and Management Plan</u></li> </ul>	
education/		<ul> <li>Preeclampsia Foundation—<u>Educating Patients</u></li> </ul>	
engagement) (continued)		AWHONN— <u>SBAR For Inclusive and Equitable Patient Care</u>	
(continued)		Intermountain Health—Social Determinants of Health Care Process Model	
		<ul> <li>NACHC—<u>The PRAPARE Screening Tool</u> (available in multiple languages)</li> </ul>	
		UCSF—Guide to Implementing Social Risk Screening and Referral-making	
		OPCA— <u>Empathic Inquiry</u>	
	Assess patients' social drivers/determinants of	» Patient Support Questionnaire (English and Spanish)	
	health (SDOH)	» Patient-Centered Social Needs Screening Conversation Guide	
		<ul> <li><u>ACOG Committee Opinion No. 729: Importance of Social Determinants of</u> <u>Health and Cultural Awareness in the Delivery of Reproductive Health Care</u>. Ades V, et al., 2018.<sup>102</sup></li> </ul>	
		» Table 1. Sample Screening Tool for Social Determinants of Health	
		AAFP—The EveryONE Project Toolkit: Social Needs Screening Tool	



Table 5. Individual Patient Supports (continued)			
Change Concepts	Change Concepts Change Ideas Tools and Resources		
Optimize the Encounter Closing (i.e., checkout)		<ul> <li>findhelp.org (formerly known as Aunt Bertha)</li> <li>AAFP—The EveryONE Project Toolkit: Neighborhood Navigator</li> <li>AAFP—The EveryONE Project Toolkit: Develop an Action Plan (available in English, Spanish, and several other languages)</li> <li>National Healthy Start Association—Find Healthy Start Services</li> <li>USDA—Special Supplemental Nutrition Program for Women, Infants, and Children (WIC)</li> <li>USDA—Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP)</li> <li>USDA—Food Distribution Program on Indian Reservations (FDPIR)</li> <li>HRSA—Find a Health Center (available in multiple languages)</li> <li>ILPQC—Mapping Tool: Resources/Services in Hospital's Service Area to Address Patients' Social Determinants of Health</li> <li>w Winnebago County resources</li> </ul>	
	Provide patients with a written self-management plan, visit summary, and follow-up guidance at the end of each visit	<ul> <li>Preeclampsia Foundation—<u>Make a Plan: My Health Beyond Pregnancy</u></li> <li>The MotHERS Program—<u>MotHERS Postpartum Health Record</u></li> <li>Preeclampsia Foundation—<u>Beyond Pregnancy</u></li> <li>ONC—<u>Providing Patients in Ambulatory Care Settings with a Clinical Summary of the Office Visit</u></li> </ul>	
	Assign staff responsibility for managing refill requests by refill protocol	<ul> <li>Minnesota Board of Nursing—<u>FAQ: Use of Condition Specific Protocols</u></li> <li>University of Texas Medical Branch—<u>Adult Primary Care Prescription Refill</u> <u>Guidelines for Ambulatory Services</u> (may be adapted for pregnant populations)</li> </ul>	
Follow Up to Monitor and Reinforce HTN Management Plans (i.e., after visits)	Implement frequent follow-ups (e.g., emails, phone calls, text messages) with patients to ensure they are taking medication as directed, using SMBP, and scheduling appointments	<ul> <li>Zufall Health—Instructions to schedule follow up appointments</li> <li>Penn Medicine Department of OBGYN's Heart Safe Motherhood Program— Sample patient and provider interface for automated text messages</li> </ul>	
	Use all staff touchpoints to support BP goals and follow up	<ul> <li>HIPxChange—<u>BP Connect Scheduler Instructions: Supportive Staff Responses</u> (may be adapted for pregnant populations)</li> <li>NACHC—Million Hearts<sup>®</sup> Hiding in Plain Sight Consolidated Change Package: <u>Appendix V: HIPS Front Office Script, Golden Valley Health Centers</u></li> </ul>	



Table 5. Individual Patient Supports (continued)			
Change Concepts	Change Ideas	Tools and Resources	
	Provide patient supports for medication adherence	<ul> <li>Consumer Reports—<u>Drug Safety: Reading Labels and Patient Information</u></li> <li>Script Your Future—<u>Online tool for patients to support medication adherence</u> (medication list wallet cards in English, Spanish, and several other languages)</li> </ul>	
		• Table 2. Self-monitoring of blood pressure. Page 202, Roberts JM, et al., 2023. <sup>84</sup>	
		<ul> <li>Appendix A. Instructions for Monitoring Blood Pressure at Home. Page 211, Roberts JM, et al., 2023.<sup>84</sup></li> </ul>	
		<ul> <li>UNC Collaborative for Maternal and Infant Health—Outpatient Bundle for Severe Hypertension: Readiness Resources: Checking Your Blood Pressure at Home English   Spanish</li> </ul>	
		Target: BP— <u>SMBP Infographic: How to measure your blood pressure at home</u>	
		<ul> <li>Target: BP—<u>7 Day Recording Sheet: Self-Measured Blood Pressure</u></li> </ul>	
Support Patients with HTN in	Provide patient supports for SMBP monitoring	<ul> <li>Target: BP—<u>Using a Wrist Cuff to Measure Blood Pressure</u> (not recommended for most patients)</li> </ul>	
Pregnancy in Self-Management		<ul> <li>AMA—<u>Release the Pressure Self-Measured Blood Pressure (SMBP) Training</u> [video]</li> </ul>	
During Their Routine Daily Activities (i.e., outside of the		<ul> <li>Montana Cardiovascular Health Program—<u>Check Your Blood Pressure</u> [videos] (available in Blackfeet, Cree, Crow [Apsáalooké], Salish, Cheyenne, Nakoda, Dakota, A'ani [White Clay], and Plains Indian Sign Language)</li> </ul>	
clinical encounter)		Preeclampsia Foundation—Blood Pressure: Check. Know. Share.	
		» Webpage	
		English   Spanish » Infographic	
		English   Spanish	
		» Blood pressure log English   Spanish	
		Preeclampsia Foundation—How To Take Your Blood Pressure [video]	
		English   Spanish	
	Provide patient supports	CDC—Physical Activity Recommendations for Pregnant and Postpartum Women	
	for increasing physical activity	ACOG— <u>Exercise During Pregnancy</u>	
		ACOG—Exercise After Pregnancy FAQ	



Table 5. Individual Patient Supports (continued)				
Change Concepts Change Ideas Tools and Resources				
	Provide patient supports for dietary changes	<ul> <li>ACOG—<u>Nutrition During Pregnancy</u></li> <li>Brigham and Women's Hospital—<u>Postpartum Nutrition after Preeclampsia</u></li> </ul>		
Support Patients	Provide patient supports and resources related to mental health and well-being	<ul> <li>HRSA—<u>National Maternal Mental Health Hotline</u> (phone or text service available in English and Spanish)</li> <li>Postpartum Support International         <ul> <li><u>PSI HelpLine</u> (phone or text service available in English and Spanish)</li> <li><u>PSI Online Support Meetings</u> (free, virtual meetings in English and Spanish)</li> <li>ACOG—<u>ACOG Explains: Mental Health and Pregnancy</u> [video]</li> <li>Preeclampsia Foundation—<u>Birth Trauma Resources</u></li> </ul> </li> </ul>		
with HTN in Pregnancy in Self-Management During Their Routine Daily	Provide patient supports on benefits of breastfeeding for long- term cardiovascular health	<ul> <li>ACOG—<u>Breastfeeding Benefits</u></li> <li>Mass General Brigham—<u>Understanding the Health Benefits and</u> <u>Challenges of Breastfeeding</u></li> </ul>		
Activities (i.e., outside of the clinical encounter) (continued)	Provide patient supports for safe contraceptive options	<ul> <li>CDC—<u>Effectiveness of Family Planning Methods</u> (figure)</li> <li>CDC—<u>Contraception</u></li> <li>CDC—<u>It's Your Future. You Can Protect It</u></li> <li>ACOG—<u>Effectiveness of Birth Control Methods</u> (figure)</li> </ul>		
	Provide patient supports for smoking cessation	<ul> <li>UNC Center for Maternal and Infant Health—<u>You Quit Two Quit: Patient</u> <u>Education Materials</u> (variety of patient resources in English and Spanish)</li> <li><u>Benefits of Being Tobacco Free</u> (available in English, Spanish, and multiple other languages)</li> <li><u>We Know You Want to Protect Your Family</u> (available in English, Spanish, Spanish, and multiple other languages)</li> <li><u>Facts About e-Cigarettes</u> (available in English, Spanish, and multiple other languages)</li> </ul>		

### Appendix A: Additional Resources and Toolkits for Hypertension in Pregnancy<sup>\*</sup>

- ACOG Safe Motherhood Initiative: <u>Severe Hypertension in Pregnancy Bundle</u> (2020)
- Alliance for Innovation on Maternal Health: <u>Severe Hypertension in Pregnancy Patient</u> <u>Safety Bundle</u> (2022)
- Alliance for Innovation on Maternal Health Community Care Initiative (AIM CCI) /National Healthy Start Association:
   <u>Community Care to Address Management</u> <u>of Chronic Conditions during Pregnancy</u> (2023)
- Alliance for Innovation on Maternal Health Community Care Initiative (AIM CCI) /National Healthy Start Association:
   <u>Community Care to Address Management</u> <u>of Chronic Conditions during Postpartum</u> (2023)
- Alliance for Innovation on Maternal Health: <u>Postpartum Discharge Transition</u> (2022)
- Druzin M, Shields L, Peterson N, Sakowski C, Cape V, Morton C. <u>Improving Health Care</u> <u>Response to Hypertensive Disorders of</u> <u>Pregnancy Toolkit</u> (2021)

- Florida Perinatal Quality Collaborative (FPQC): Hypertension in Pregnancy Toolbox (2016)
- Indiana Perinatal Quality Improvement Collaborative (IPQIC): <u>Hypertension Tool Kit</u> (2021)
- Lindley KJ. <u>Call for Action to Address</u> <u>Increasing Maternal Cardiovascular</u> <u>Mortality in the United States: Strategies for</u> <u>Improving Maternal Cardiovascular Care</u>. *Circulation*. 2022;145(7):502–504
- Mehta LS, Sharma G, Creanga AA, Hameed AB, Hollier LM, Johnson JC, et al. Call to Action: Maternal Health and Saving Mothers: A Policy Statement From the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2021;144(15):e251–e269
  - » <u>Table 1. Existing Evidence-Based</u> <u>Strategies</u>

\*Resources published prior to 2022 do not include the recent recommendations for management of chronic hypertension in pregnancy as informed by the Treatment for Mild Chronic Hypertension during Pregnancy trial.<sup>66</sup> Findings from the trial informed clinical guidance updates, with recommendations to use 140/90 mmHg, rather than the previous 160/105–110 mmHg, as either a threshold to initiate treatment or as the upper limit target BP for chronic hypertension.<sup>67–68</sup>

### Appendix B: Self-Measured Blood Pressure (SMBP) Monitoring

In the general population, SMBP, also known as home blood pressure monitoring, defined as measurement of BP outside of the office setting, is an evidence-based, cost-effective way to improve BP control, particularly when combined with clinical support.<sup>100, 103</sup> Recommendations for SMBP in the general population, for both confirming new diagnoses of hypertension and managing medication adjustments, are included in several guidelines and task force recommendations.<sup>65, 104</sup>

However, research on the effectiveness of SMBP in pregnancy on improving outcomes is less robust thus far, in part due to heterogeneity of populations, methods, and outcomes studied. Meta-analyses suggest that SMBP is accurate, feasible, and safe in pregnancy.<sup>105–106</sup> And despite a lack of definitive evidence of improved outcomes, a recent comparative effectiveness review of hypertension management in postpartum women concluded that SMBP may allow for early recognition of hypertension and may address race-based inequities in follow-up.96 Further, an expert consensus document gave a strong recommendation for SMBP for women at risk of preeclampsia, recognizing the potential benefits, low likelihood of harm, and cost-effectiveness.<sup>84</sup> SMBP combined with telemedicine for women at risk of preeclampsia can also address barriers to attending frequent antenatal care visits in person.84

Incorporating SMBP into practice depends on accurate BP measurement and appropriate response to SMBP readings. Below are some important considerations when using SMBP in pregnant or postpartum women.

#### **Arm Circumference**

Properly fitting BP cuffs are essential for accurate readings, both in clinical settings and for SMBP.<sup>107</sup> BP cuff sizes are not standardized across or within device manufacturers, so measuring a patient's arm circumference and providing that value to them may help them obtain a properly

sized cuff.<sup>108</sup> Pregnancy-associated weight gain could impact arm circumference. As a pregnancy progresses, it may prove helpful to remeasure arm circumference to ensure a properly sized cuff is used, both for in-office measurement and for SMBP.<sup>100</sup>

# SMBP Devices Validated in Pregnant Populations

Automatic upper arm devices are preferred to wrist cuffs for most patients. Wrist cuffs can be used for women with very large or conical upper arms, though attention to proper positioning is important for accurate readings.<sup>107, 109</sup> Not all SMBP devices have been clinically validated for use in pregnant women, which is imperative due to increases in blood volume during pregnancy. The **U.S. Blood Pressure Validated Device Listing**, from the American Medical Association, is a reliable source of clinically validated SMBP devices and allows users to filter by pregnant populations. **STRIDE BP**, from the European Society of Hypertension, International Society of

Hypertension, and World Hypertension League, is another source of SMBP devices that have been validated in pregnancy.<sup>64, 110</sup>

#### **Proper Preparation and Positioning**

It is essential to teach patients how to prepare and position themselves to obtain accurate blood pressure measurements; this is pertinent to in-office measurement as well. Actions that can improve accuracy include (**Figure 3**):

- · Having an empty bladder
- Avoiding caffeine and exercise for 30 minutes before measuring
- Sitting in a chair with back supported, feet flat on the floor and arm at heart level
- Placing cuff on a bare arm
- Resting quietly for 5 minutes before measuring
- Not talking, actively listening, or using electronic devices during measurement<sup>107, 109</sup>

#### **Clinical Protocol**

SMBP has been shown to be more accurate than in-office readings, in part because SMBP is digested as an average of a pattern of readings. Most experts agree that a typical protocol for diagnosing new cases of hypertension or monitoring medication changes in nonpregnant patients with hypertension is to obtain two readings 5 minutes apart in the morning and two readings 5 minutes apart in the evening for up to 7 days (no fewer than 3 days).<sup>107, 109</sup> This provides up to 28 readings, which are then averaged for a representative blood pressure value.

#### **SMBP Device Coverage**

Currently, insurance coverage for SMBP devices is variable in private plans. Forty-two states provide some level of device coverage for Medicaid beneficiaries (as of February 2024), though coverage varies substantially.<sup>111</sup> Medicaid device coverage averages \$63.76, but ranges from \$8.22 (Arkansas) to \$159.44 (New Hampshire). Many clinically validated devices can be purchased for \$50–100, but if an extra-large cuff is needed, the device will likely cost \$100 or more.<sup>112</sup>

#### Additional SMBP Resources

- <u>Million Hearts® SMBP webpage</u>
- NACHC SMBP Implementation Toolkit
- Self-Measured Blood Pressure Telemonitoring Programs: A Pragmatic How-to Guide.<sup>97</sup>
- <u>Target: BP</u>

### Appendix C: Additional Quality Improvement (QI) Resources

If you are new to continuous QI, there are many useful QI tools that can assist you in your efforts. For example, the IHI provides several QI tools that support its Model for Improvement (Figure 4). Its Quality Improvement Essentials Toolkit is a good primer for those beginning their quality improvement journey. The toolkit includes the Improvement Project Planning Form to help teams think systematically about their improvement project and the **PDSA Worksheet** for Testing Change, which walks the user through documenting a test of change. These resources may be helpful for planning, assigning responsibilities, and carrying out small tests of change for improving care of women with hypertension in pregnancy.

Another useful QI reference and toolkit is the **Guide to Improving Care Processes and Outcomes**, available from the Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA), which supports the U.S. health care safety net. This resource includes worksheets, such as the **Clinical Decision Support-enabled Quality**  **Improvement Worksheet** for analyzing current workflows and information flows and considering improvements for targets such as BP control or aspirin prophylaxis. The HPCP can help identify promising evidence-informed approaches to enhancing care processes to achieve this goal.

Finally, the Healthcare Information and Management Systems Society (HIMSS) publishes a CDS 5 Rights framework on improving care delivery and outcomes with clinical decision support (CDS). These guidebooks can help you apply the **CDS 5 Rights** framework to ensure that all the right people (including patients) get the right information in the right formats via the right channels at the right times to optimize healthrelated decisions and actions. The guidebooks help health care practices and their partners set up programs that reliably deliver outcome improving CDS interventions. They also provide detailed guidance on how to successfully develop, launch, and monitor such interventions so that all interested parties benefit.

### Appendix D: Clinical Quality Measures Related to Hypertension in Pregnancy

Quality improvement efforts are often anchored in clinical quality measures. The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) Quality Payment Program (QPP) has a specialty measure set included in the 2023 Merit-Based Incentive Payment System (MIPS). It includes 27 measures, four of which are very pertinent to hypertension in pregnancy (**Table 6**). CMS22 assesses BP screening and documentation of follow-up for people with elevated BP. This measure includes pregnant women but does not assess BP treatment or control. CMS165 assesses BP control among people with a diagnosis of essential hypertension but excludes pregnant women from the denominator. MIPS Quality ID #336 assesses postpartum follow-up care but does not include postpartum hypertension screening or management. MIPS Quality ID #487 assesses screening for the social drivers of health but excludes patients under the age of 18, regardless of pregnancy status. These four measures represent opportunities for specification enhancement to better assess aspects of care related to hypertension in pregnancy.

**Table 6.** Select Measures, Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) Quality Payment Program (QPP) 2023 Obstetrics/Gynecology Specialty Measure Set

Measure Name	Description	Pertinent Exclusions	Notes
CMS22: Preventive Care and Screening: Screening for High Blood Pressure and Follow-Up Documented	Percentage of patient visits for patients aged 18 years and older seen during the measurement period who were screened for high BP and for whom a recommended follow-up plan is documented, as indicated, if BP is elevated or hypertensive	Patients with an active diagnosis of hypertension	Includes pregnant women; does not assess BP control
<u>CMS165: Controlling High</u> <u>Blood Pressure</u>	Percentage of patients 18–85 years of age who had a diagnosis of essential hypertension starting before and continuing into or starting during the first 6 months of the measurement period and whose most recent BP was adequately controlled (<140/90 mmHg) during the measurement period	Pregnant women	Can assess BP control for women in pre- pregnancy, postpartum, and interpregnancy phases; relies on pregnancy reconciliation for an accurate denominator
Quality ID #336: Maternity Care: Postpartum Follow-up and Care Coordination	<ul> <li>Percentage of patients who gave birth during a 12-month period who were seen for postpartum care before or at 12 weeks of giving birth and received the following at a postpartum visit:</li> <li>Breast-feeding evaluation and education</li> <li>Postpartum depression screening</li> <li>Postpartum glucose screening for gestational diabetes patients</li> <li>Family and contraceptive planning counseling</li> <li>Tobacco use screening and cessation education</li> <li>Healthy lifestyle behavioral advice</li> <li>An immunization review and update</li> </ul>	Patients who do not have postpartum visits	Does not include postpartum hypertension screening or management; does not explicitly assess care coordination
Quality ID #487: Screening for Social Drivers of Health	Percentage of patients ages 18 years and older screened for food insecurity, housing instability, transportation needs, utility difficulties, and interpersonal safety	n/a	Does not include people under 18 years of age

## Acronyms

PhysicansGaPQCGeorgia Perinatal Quality CollaborativeABCAssociation of Black CardiologistsHDPHypertensive disorders of pregnancyACCAmerican College of CardiologyHIMSSHealthcare Information and Management Systems SocietyACOGAmerican College of Obstetricians and GynecologistsHRSAHealthcare Information and Management Systems SocietyACOGSAmerican College of Obstetricians and GynecologistsHTNHypertensionACOGGAmerican College of Osteopathic Obstetricians and GynecologistsHTNHypertensionAHAAmerican Heart AssociationILPQCIllinois Perinatal Quality CollaborativeAHRQAgency for Irelathcare Research and QualityIPQICIndiana Perinatal Quality CollaborativeAIMAlliance for Innovation on Maternal PeathKFFKalser Family FoundationAMAAmerican Medical AssociationMIPSMerit-Based Incentive Payment SystemAMGFAmerican Medical Group FoundationMMRCMaternal mortality review committeeAPAAmerican Of Women's Health, Obstetric and Meontal NursesNACDDNational Association of Chronic Disease DirectorsBPBlood pressureNICHDNational Association of Community Health CentersNational Association of Community Health CentersCDCCenters for Disease Control and PreventionNICHDNational Association of Nurse PreventionNICHDCDSClinical decision supportNICHDNational Association of Nurse Practitioners in Women's Health Human Developmen	AAFP		American Academy of Family	FSU	Florida State University
ACCAmerican College of CardiologyHDPHypertensive disorders of pregnancyACNMAmerican College of Nurse-MidwivesHIMSSHealthCare Information and Management Systems SocietyACOGAmerican College of Obstetricians and GynecologistsHRSAHealth Resources and Services AdministrationACOOGAmerican College of Osteopathic Obstetricians and GynecologistsHTNHypertensionAHAAmerican Heart AssociationILPQCIllinois Perinatal Quality CollaborativeAHRQAgency for Healthcare Research and QualityIPQICIndiana Perinatal Quality Improvement CollaborativeAMAAliance for Innovation on Maternal HealthKFFKaiser Family FoundationAMAAmerican Medical AssociationMIPSMerit-Based Incentive Payment SystemAMAFAmerican Medical Group FoundationMMRCMaternal mortality review committeeAPAAmerican Medical Group FoundationMNPQCCollaborativeASPEAssistant Secretary for Planning and EvaluationNACDDNational Association of Chronic Disease DirectorsBPBlood pressureNACHCNational Association of Community Health CentersCDSClinical decision supportNPHNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentCDSClinical decision supportNPWHNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentCMQCCCalifornia Maternal Quality Care CollaborativeNPCNorth and South Dakota Perinatal Quality CollaborativeCMAPCenters for Medicare & Medic		_	Physicians	GaPQC	Georgia Perinatal Quality Collaborative
ACNMAmerican College of Nurse-MidwivesHallhSSHealthcare Information and Management Systems SocietyACOGAmerican College of Obstetricians and GynecologistsHRSAHealth Resources and Services AdministrationACOOGAmerican College of Osteopathic Obstetricians and GynecologistsHTNHypertensionAHAAmerican Heart AssociationILIPQCIllinois Perinatal Quality CollaborativeAHRQAgency for Healthcare Research and QualityIPQICIndiana Perinatal Quality Improvement CollaborativeAIMAlliance for Innovation on Maternal HealthKFFKaiser Family FoundationAMAAmerican Medical AssociationMIPSMerit-Based Incentive Payment SystemAMAAmerican Redical Group FoundationMMRCMaternal mortality review committeeAPAAmerican Pregnancy AssociationMIPSNational Association of Chronic Disease DirectorsAWHONNAssociation of Women's Health, Obstetric and Neonatal NursesNACEDNational Association of Community Health CentersBPBlood pressureNHLBI PreventionNational Association of Community Health CentersCDCCenters for Disease Control and PreventionNCHDNational Association of Nurse Practitioners in Womer's Health Human DevelopmentCDACenters for Medicare & Medicaid ServicesNPWHNational Association of Nurse Practitioners in Womer's Health Human DevelopmentCDCCenters for Disease Control and PreventionNPWHNational Association of Nurse Practitioners in Womer's Health Human			-	HDP	Hypertensive disorders of pregnancy
ACOGAmerican College of Obstetricians and GynecologistsHRSAHealth Resources and Services AdministrationACOOGAmerican College of Osteopathic Obstetricians and GynecologistsHTNHypertensionAHAAmerican Heart AssociationHTNHypertensionAHAAmerican Heart AssociationILIInstitute for Healthcare ImprovementAHAAmerican Heart AssociationILPQCIllinois Perinatal Quality CollaborativeAHAAlliance for Innovation on Maternal HealthKFFKaiser Family FoundationAMAAmerican Medical AssociationMIPSMerit-Based Incentive Payment SystemAMGFAmerican Medical Group FoundationMMRCMaternal mortality review committeeAPAAmerican Pregnancy AssociationMIPSMinnesota Perinatal QualityASPEAssistant Secretary for Planning and EvaluationNACDDNational Association of Chronic Disease DirectorsBPBlood pressureNACHCNational Association of Community HealthNACHCCDCCenters for Disease Control and PreventionNICHDNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentCDSClinical decision supportNPWHNational Association of Nurse Practitioners in Women's HealthCMQCCCalifornia Maternal Quality Care CollaborativeNSDPQCNorth and South Dakota Perinatal Quality CollaborativeCMAPChronic Hypertension and PregnancyNPWHNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentCMAPCenters for Medicare & Medicaid Services <td>AC</td> <td>C</td> <td>American College of Cardiology</td> <td>HIMSS</td> <td>Healthcare Information and</td>	AC	C	American College of Cardiology	HIMSS	Healthcare Information and
and GynecologistsAdministrationACOOGAmerican College of Osteopathic Obstetricians and GynecologistsHTNHypertensionAHAAmerican Heart AssociationILPQCIllinois Perinatal Quality CollaborativeAHRQAgency for Healthcare Research and QualityIPQICIndiana Perinatal Quality Improvement CollaborativeAIMAlliance for Innovation on Maternal HealthKFFKaiser Family FoundationAMAAmerican Medical AssociationMIPSMerit-Based Incentive Payment SystemAMAAmerican Medical Group FoundationMMRCMaternal mortality review committeeAPAAmerican Pregnancy AssociationMNPQCMinnesota Perinatal Quality CollaborativeASPEAssistant Secretary for Planning and EvaluationNACDDNational Association of Chronic Disease DirectorsBPBlood pressureNAL PreventionNALCDNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentCDSClinical decision supportNPWHNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentCMAPChronic Hypertension and PregnancyNPWHNational Association of Nurse Practitioners in Women's HealthCMAPClinical decision supportNPWHNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentCDSCenters for Disease Control and PreventionNPWHNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentCDACenters for Disease Control and PreventionNPWHNational Association of Nurse Practitioners in Women's HealthCDSClinical d	AC	NM	American College of Nurse-Midwives		Management Systems Society
Obstetricians and GynecologistsIHIInstitute for Healthcare ImprovementAHAAmerican Heart AssociationILPQCIllinois Perinatal Quality CollaborativeAHRQAgency for Healthcare Research and QualityIPQICIndiana Perinatal Quality Improvement CollaborativeAIMAlliance for Innovation on Maternal HealthKFFKaiser Family FoundationAMAAmerican Medical AssociationMIPSMerit-Based Incentive Payment SystemAMGFAmerican Medical Group FoundationMMRCMaternal mortality review committeeAPAAmerican Pregnancy AssociationMNPQCMinnesota Perinatal Quality CollaborativeASPEAssistant Secretary for Planning and EvaluationNACDDNational Association of Chronic Disease DirectorsBPBlood pressureNACHCNational Association of Community Health CentersCDCCenters for Disease Control and PreventionNICHDNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentCDSClinical decision supportNPWHNational Association of Nurse Practitioners in Women's HealthCMSCCenters for Medicare & Medicaid ServicesNSDPQCNorth and South Dakota Perinatal Quality CollaborativeCMSCCenters for Medicare & Medicaid ServicesNYC DOHMHNew York City Department of Health and Mental HygieneEHRElectronic health recordOBGYNObstetrics and oynecology	AC	ÖG		HRSA	
AHAAmerican Heart AssociationILPQCIllinois Perinatal Quality CollaborativeAHRQAgency for Healthcare Research and QualityIPQICIndiana Perinatal Quality Improvement CollaborativeAIMAlliance for Innovation on Maternal HealthKFFKaiser Family FoundationAMAAmerican Medical AssociationMIPSMerit-Based Incentive Payment SystemAMGFAmerican Medical Group FoundationMMRCMaternal mortality review committeeAPAAmerican Pregnancy AssociationMNPQCMinnesota Perinatal Quality CollaborativeASPEAssistant Secretary for Planning and EvaluationNACDDNational Association of Chronic Disease DirectorsAWHONNAssociation of Women's Health, Obstetric and Neonatal NursesNACHCNational Association of Community Health CentersBPBlood pressure PreventionNHLBI National Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentCDSClinical decision supportNPWHNational Association of Nurse Practitioners in Women's Health CullaborativeCMSCenters for Medicare & Medicaid ServicesNPWHNational Association of Nurse Practitioners in Women's Health duality CollaborativeCMSCenters for Medicare & Medicaid ServicesNPWHNorth and South Dakota Perinatal Quality CollaborativeCMSCenters for Medicare & Medicaid ServicesNYC DOHMHNew York City Department of Health and Mental HygieneCMSCenters for Medicare & Medicaid ServicesNYC <br< td=""><td>AC</td><td>00G</td><td></td><td></td><td></td></br<>	AC	00G			
ILPQCIllinois Perinatal Quality CollaborativeAHRQAgency for Healthcare Research and QualityIPQICIndiana Perinatal Quality Improvement CollaborativeAIMAlliance for Innovation on Maternal HealthKFFKaiser Family FoundationAMAAmerican Medical AssociationMIPSMerit-Based Incentive Payment SystemAMGFAmerican Medical Group FoundationMMRCMaternal mortality review committeeAPAAmerican Pregnancy AssociationMIPSMinnesota Perinatal Quality CollaborativeASPEAssistant Secretary for Planning and EvaluationNACDDNational Association of Chronic Disease DirectorsAWHONNAssociation of Women's Health, Obstetric and Neonatal NursesNACHCNational Association of Community Health CentersBPBlood pressure PreventionNHLBI National Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentCDSClinical decision supportNPWHNational Association of Nurse Practitioners in Women's HealthCMSCCenters for Medicare & Medicaid ServicesNPWHNational Association of Nurse Practitioners in Women's HealthCMSCenters for Medicare & Medicaid ServicesNYC New York City Department of Health and Mental HygieneEHRElectronic health recordOBGYNObstetrics and qvnecology	AH	IA	American Heart Association		
QualityIPQICIndiana Perinatal Quality Improvement CollaborativeAIMAlliance for Innovation on Maternal HealthKFFKaiser Family FoundationAMAAmerican Medical AssociationMIPSMerit-Based Incentive Payment SystemAMGFAmerican Medical Group FoundationMMRCMaternal mortality review committeeAPAAmerican Pregnancy AssociationMIPSMinesota Perinatal Quality CollaborativeASPEAssistant Secretary for Planning and EvaluationNACDDNational Association of Chronic Disease DirectorsAWHONNAssociation of Women's Health, Obstetric and Neonatal NursesNACHCNational Association of Community Health CentersBPBlood pressureNHLBI PreventionNACHCNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentCDSClinical decision supportNPWHNational Association of Nurse Practitioners in Women's HealthCMQCCCalifornia Maternal Quality Care CollaborativeNPWHNational Association of Nurse Practitioners in Women's HealthCMACCenters for Medicare & Medicaid ServicesNPWHNational Association of Nurse Practitioners in Women's HealthCMSCenters for Medicare & Medicaid ServicesNPC NEVPQCNew York City Department of Health and Mental HygieneEHRElectronic health recordOBGYNObstetrics and gynecology				ILPQC	Illinois Perinatal Quality Collaborative
HealthKFFKaiser Family FoundationAMAAmerican Medical AssociationMIPSMerit-Based Incentive Payment SystemAMGFAmerican Medical Group FoundationMMRCMaternal mortality review committeeAPAAmerican Pregnancy AssociationMNPQCMinesota Perinatal Quality CollaborativeASPEAssistant Secretary for Planning and EvaluationNACDDNational Association of Chronic Disease DirectorsAWHONNAssociation of Women's Health, Obstetric and Neonatal NursesNACHCNational Association of Community Health CentersBPBlood pressure PreventionNHLBINational Heart, Lung, and Blood InstituteCDCCenters for Disease Control and PreventionNICHDNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentCDSClinical decision supportNPWHNational Association of Nurse Practitioners in Women's HealthCMQCCCalifornia Maternal Quality Care CollaborativeNPWHNational Association of Nurse Practitioners in Women's HealthCMSCenters for Medicare & Medicaid ServicesNYCNew York City Department of Health and Mental HygieneEHRElectronic health recordOBGYNObstetrics and oynecology			Quality	IPQIC	, i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i
AMGFAmerican Medical Group FoundationMMRCMaternal mortality review committeeAPAAmerican Pregnancy AssociationMMRCMaternal mortality review committeeASPEAssistant Secretary for Planning and EvaluationNACDDNational Association of Chronic Disease DirectorsAWHONNAssociation of Women's Health, Obstetric and Neonatal NursesNACHCNational Association of Community Health CentersBPBlood pressureNHLBINational Association of Community Health CentersCDCCenters for Disease Control and PreventionNICHDNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentCDSClinical decision supportNPWHNational Association of Nurse Practitioners in Women's HealthCMQCCCalifornia Maternal Quality Care CollaborativeNSDPQCNorth and South Dakota Perinatal Quality CollaborativeCMSCenters for Medicare & Medicaid ServicesNYC DOHMHNew York City Department of Health and Mental HygieneEHRElectronic health recordOBGYNObstetrics and oynecology	AIN	M		KFF	Kaiser Family Foundation
ANGLYAmerican Pregnancy AssociationMNPQCMinnesota Perinatal Quality CollaborativeASPEAssistant Secretary for Planning and EvaluationNACDDNational Association of Chronic Disease DirectorsAWHONNAssociation of Women's Health, Obstetric and Neonatal NursesNACDDNational Association of Community Health CentersBPBlood pressureNHLBINational Heart, Lung, and Blood InstituteCDCCenters for Disease Control and PreventionNICHDNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentCDSClinical decision supportNPWHNational Association of Nurse Practitioners in Women's HealthCMQCCCalifornia Maternal Quality Care CollaborativeNSDPQCNorth and South Dakota Perinatal Quality CollaborativeCMSCenters for Medicare & Medicaid ServicesNYCNew York City Department of Health and Mental HygieneEHRElectronic health recordOBGYNObstetrics and oynecology	AN	٨A	American Medical Association	MIPS	Merit-Based Incentive Payment System
ASPEAssistant Secretary for Planning and EvaluationNACDDNational Association of Chronic Disease DirectorsAWHONNAssociation of Women's Health, Obstetric and Neonatal NursesNACHCNational Association of Community Health CentersBPBlood pressureNHLBINational Heart, Lung, and Blood InstituteCDCCenters for Disease Control and PreventionNICHDNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentCDSClinical decision supportNPWHNational Association of Nurse Practitioners in Women's HealthCMQCCCalifornia Maternal Quality Care CollaborativeNSDPQCNorth and South Dakota Perinatal Quality CollaborativeCMSCenters for Medicare & Medicaid ServicesNYC DOHMHNew York City Department of Health and Mental HygieneEHRElectronic health recordOBGYNObstetrics and oynecology	AN	1GF	American Medical Group Foundation	MMRC	Maternal mortality review committee
EvaluationNACDDNational Association of Chronic Disease DirectorsAWHONNAssociation of Women's Health, Obstetric and Neonatal NursesNACHCNational Association of Community Health CentersBPBlood pressureNHLBINational Heart, Lung, and Blood InstituteCDCCenters for Disease Control and PreventionNICHDNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentCDSClinical decision supportNPWHNational Association of Nurse Practitioners in Women's HealthCMQCCCalifornia Maternal Quality Care CollaborativeNSDPQCNorth and South Dakota Perinatal Quality CollaborativeCMSCenters for Medicare & Medicaid ServicesNYCNew York City Department of Health and Mental HygieneEHRElectronic health recordOBGYNObstetrics and gynecology	AP	A	American Pregnancy Association	MNPQC	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
AWHONNAssociation of Women's Health, Obstetric and Neonatal NursesNACHCNational Association of Community Health CentersBPBlood pressureNHLBINational Heart, Lung, and Blood InstituteCDCCenters for Disease Control and PreventionNICHDNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentCDSClinical decision supportNPWHNational Association of Nurse Practitioners in Women's HealthCHAPChronic Hypertension and Pregnancy CollaborativeNPWHNational Association of Nurse Practitioners in Women's HealthCMQCCCalifornia Maternal Quality Care CollaborativeNSDPQCNorth and South Dakota Perinatal Quality CollaborativeCMSCenters for Medicare & Medicaid ServicesNYC DOHMHNew York City Department of Health and Mental HygieneEHRElectronic health recordOBGYNObstetrics and gynecology	ASI	PE	, 5	NACDD	
BPBlood pressureNHLBINational Heart, Lung, and Blood InstituteCDCCenters for Disease Control and PreventionNICHDNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentCDSClinical decision supportNPWHNational Association of Nurse Practitioners in Women's HealthCHAPChronic Hypertension and Pregnancy CollaborativeNPWHNational Association of Nurse Practitioners in Women's HealthCMQCCCalifornia Maternal Quality Care CollaborativeNSDPQCNorth and South Dakota Perinatal Quality CollaborativeCMSCenters for Medicare & Medicaid ServicesNYC DOHMHNew York City Department of Health and Mental HygieneEHRElectronic health recordOBGYNObstetrics and gynecology	AW	HONN		NACHC	National Association of Community
CDCCenters for Disease Control and PreventionInstituteCDSClinical decision supportNICHDNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentCHAPChronic Hypertension and Pregnancy CMQCCNPWHNational Association of Nurse Practitioners in Women's HealthCMQCCCalifornia Maternal Quality Care CollaborativeNSDPQCNorth and South Dakota Perinatal Quality CollaborativeCMSCenters for Medicare & Medicaid ServicesNYC DOHMHNew York City Department of Health and Mental HygieneEHRElectronic health recordOBGYNObstetrics and gynecology	BP		Blood pressure		
NICHDNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentCDSClinical decision supportNICHDNational Institute of Child Health and Human DevelopmentCHAPChronic Hypertension and PregnancyNPWHNational Association of Nurse Practitioners in Women's HealthCMQCCCalifornia Maternal Quality Care CollaborativeNSDPQCNorth and South Dakota Perinatal Quality CollaborativeCMSCenters for Medicare & Medicaid ServicesNYCNew York City Department of Health and Mental HygieneEHRElectronic health recordOBGYNObstetrics and gynecology	CD	C		INFILDI	5
CMQCC       California Maternal Quality Care Collaborative       Practitioners in Women's Health         CMS       Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services       NSDPQC       North and South Dakota Perinatal Quality Collaborative         EHR       Electronic health record       NYC       New York City Department of Health DOHMH         OBGYN       Obstetrics and gynecology	CD	S		NICHD	
CMQCC       California Maternal Quality Care         Collaborative       NSDPQC         North and South Dakota Perinatal         Quality Collaborative         CMS         Centers for Medicare & Medicaid         Services         NYC         New York City Department of Health         DOHMH         and Mental Hygiene         OBGYN       Obstetrics and gynecology	CH	IAP	Chronic Hypertension and Pregnancy	NPWH	National Association of Nurse
CMS     Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services     NSDPQC     North and South Dakota Perinatal Quality Collaborative       EHR     Electronic health record     NYC     New York City Department of Health DOHMH       OBGYN     Obstetrics and gynecology	CN	1QCC	California Maternal Quality Care		Practitioners in Women's Health
CMS       Centers for Medicare & Medicaid         Services       NYC       New York City Department of Health         DOHMH       and Mental Hygiene         EHR       Electronic health record         OBGYN       Obstetrics and gynecology			*	NSDPQC	
EHR Electronic health record OBGYN Obstetrics and gynecology	CN	15			New York City Department of Health
FPQC Florida Perinatal Quality Collaborative OBGYN Obstetrics and gynecology	EHI	R	Electronic health record	DOHMH	and Mental Hygiene
	FP(	QC	Florida Perinatal Quality Collaborative	OBGYN	Obstetrics and gynecology

ONC	Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology	SDOH	Social drivers/determinants of health
		SMBP	Self-measured blood pressure
opqic	Oklahoma Perinatal Quality Improvement Collaborative	SMFM	Society for Maternal-Fetal Medicine
OPCA	Oregon Primary Care Association	UCSF	University of California, San Francisco
PDSA	Plan-Do-Study-Act	UNC	University of North Carolina
PQC	Perinatal quality collaborative	USDA	United States Department of Agriculture
QI	Quality improvement	USPSTF	United States Preventive Services Task Force
QPP	Quality Payment Program	WisPQC	Wisconsin Perinatal Quality Collaborative
RHNTC	Reproductive Health National Training Center		

### References

- Abdalla M, Bolen SD, Brettler J, Egan BM, Ferdinand KC, Ford CD, et al. Implementation strategies to improve blood pressure control in the United States: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association and American Medical Association. *Hypertension*. 2023;80(10):e143–e157.
- Brown HL, Warner JJ, Gianos E, Gulati M, Hill AJ, Hollier LM, et al. Promoting risk identification and reduction of cardiovascular disease in women through collaboration with obstetricians and gynecologists: a presidential advisory from the American Heart Association and the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. *Circulation*. 2018;137(24):e843–e852.
- Mehta LS, Warnes CA, Bradley E, Burton T, Economy K, Mehran R, et al. Cardiovascular considerations in caring for pregnant patients: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association [published correction appears in *Circulation*. 2020 Jun 9;141(23):e904] [published correction appears in *Circulation*. 2021 Mar 23;143(12):e792–e793]. *Circulation*. 2020;141(23):e884–e903.
- Garovic VD, Dechend R, Easterling T, Karumanchi SA, McMurtry Baird S, Magee LA, et al. Hypertension in pregnancy: diagnosis, blood pressure goals, and pharmacotherapy: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association [published correction appears in *Hypertension*. 2022 Mar;79(3):e70]. *Hypertension*. 2022;79(2):e21–e41.
- Wu P, Chew-Graham CA, Maas AH, Chappell LC, Potts JE, Gulati M, et al. Temporal changes in hypertensive disorders of pregnancy and impact on cardiovascular and obstetric outcomes. *Am J Cardiol.* 2020;125(10):1508–1516.

- 6. Nahum Sacks K, Friger M, Shoham-Vardi I, Spiegel E, Sergienko R, Landau D, Sheiner E. Prenatal exposure to preeclampsia as an independent risk factor for long-term cardiovascular morbidity of the offspring. *Pregnancy Hypertens*. 2018;13:181–186.
- Kajantie E, Eriksson JG, Osmond C, Thornburg K, Barker DJP. Preeclampsia is associated with increased risk of stroke in the adult offspring: the Helsinki Birth Cohort Study. *Stroke*. 2009;40(4):1176–1180.
- 8. Andraweera PH, Lassi ZS. Cardiovascular risk factors in offspring of preeclamptic pregnancies: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Pediatr.* 2019;208:104–113.e6.
- Khosla K, Heimberger S, Nieman KM, Tung A, Shahul S, Staff AC, Rana S. Long-term cardiovascular disease risk in women after hypertensive disorders of pregnancy: recent advances in hypertension. *Hypertension*. 2021;78(4):927–935.
- Behrens I, Basit S, Melbye M, Lykke, JA, Wohlfahrt J, Bundgaard H, et al. Risk of post-pregnancy hypertension in women with a history of hypertensive disorders of pregnancy: nationwide cohort study. *BMJ*. 2017;358:j3078.
- American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists' Committee on Practice Bulletins—Obstetrics. ACOG Practice Bulletin No. 203: chronic hypertension in pregnancy. *Obstet Gynecol.* 2019;133(1):e26–e50.
- American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists' Committee on Practice Bulletins—Obstetrics. ACOG Practice Bulletin No.222: gestational hypertension and preeclampsia. *Obstet Gynecol.* 2020;135(6):e237–e260.
- Ford ND, Cox S, Ko JY, Ouyang L, Romero L, Colarusso T, et al. Hypertensive disorders in pregnancy and mortality at delivery hospitalization—United States, 2017–2019. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2022;71(17):585–591.

- Ford ND, Robbins CL, Hayes DK, Ko JY, Loustalot F. Prevalence, treatment, and control of hypertension among U.S. women of reproductive age by race/Hispanic origin. *Am J Hypertens*. 2022;35(8):723–730.
- 15. Patient Safety and Quality Committee, Society for Maternal-Fetal Medicine; Gibson KS, Hameed AB. Society for Maternal-Fetal Medicine special statement: checklist for postpartum discharge of women with hypertensive disorders. Am J *Obstet Gynecol*. 2020;223(4):B18–B21.
- Wu DD, Gao L, Huang O, Ullah K, Guo M-X, Liu Y, et al. Increased adverse pregnancy outcomes associated with stage 1 hypertension in a low-risk cohort: evidence from 47,874 cases. *Hypertension*. 2020;75(3):772–780.
- Bramham K, Parnell B, Nelson-Piercy C, Seed PT, Poston L, Chappell LC. Chronic hypertension and pregnancy outcomes: systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ*. 2014;348:g2301.
- Li F, Wang T, Chen L, Zhang S, Chen L, Qin J. Adverse pregnancy outcomes among mothers with hypertensive disorders in pregnancy: a meta-analysis of cohort studies. *Pregnancy Hypertens*. 2021;24:107–117.
- Murray Horwitz ME, Rodriguez MI, Dissanayake M, Carmichael SL, Snowden JM. Postpartum health risks among women with hypertensive disorders of pregnancy, California 2008–2012. J Hypertens. 2021;39(5):1009–1017.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Pregnancy Mortality Surveillance System. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/reproductivehealth/</u> <u>maternal-mortality/pregnancy-mortality-</u> <u>surveillance-system.htm</u>. Accessed November 27, 2023.

- 21. Trost SL, Beauregard J, Chandra G, Njie F, Berry J, Harvey A, et al. *Pregnancy-Related Deaths: Data from Maternal Mortality Review Committees in 36 U.S. States*, 2017–2019. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; 2022.
- 22. McKinney J, Keyser L, Clinton S, Pagliano C. ACOG Committee Opinion No. 736: optimizing postpartum care. *Obstet Gynecol*. 2018;132(3):784–785.
- 23. Main EK, McCain CL, Morton CH, Holtby S, Lawton ES. Pregnancy-related mortality in California: causes, characteristics, and improvement opportunities. *Obstet Gynecol*. 2015;125(4):938–947.
- CDC Foundation. Report from Maternal Mortality Review Committees: A View Into Their Critical Role. <u>https://www.</u> cdcfoundation.org/sites/default/files/ <u>upload/pdf/MMRIAReport.pdf</u>. Accessed November 27. 2023.
- 25. Petersen EE, Davis NL, Goodman D, Cox S, Syverson C, Seed K, et al. Racial/ethnic disparities in pregnancy-related deaths— United States, 2007–2016. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2019;68(35):762–765.
- 26. Johnson JD, Louis JM. Does race or ethnicity play a role in the origin, pathophysiology, and outcomes of preeclampsia? An expert review of the literature. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*. 2022;226(2S):S876–S885.
- 27. Crear-Perry J, Correa-de-Araujo R, Lewis Johnson T, McLemore MR, Neilson E, Wallace M. Social and structural determinants of health inequities in maternal health. *J Womens Health (Larchmt)*. 2021 Feb;30(2):230–235.
- 28. Meyerovitz CV, Juraschek SP, Ayturk D, Moore Simas TA, Person SD, Lemon SC, et al. Social determinants, blood pressure control, and racial inequities in childbearing age women with hypertension, 2001 to 2018. *J Am Heart Assoc.* 2023;12(5):e027169.

- 29. Sharma G, Grandhi GR, Acquah I, Mszar R, Mahajan S, Khan SU, et al. Social determinants of suboptimal cardiovascular health among pregnant women in the United States. *J Am Heart Assoc*. 2022;11(2):e022837.
- Baiden D, Parry M, Nerenberg K, Hillan EM, Dogba MJ. Connecting the dots: structural racism, intersectionality, and cardiovascular health outcomes for African, Caribbean, and Black mothers. *Health Equity*. 2022;6(1):402–-405.
- Howell EA, Brown H, Brumley J, Bryant AS, Caughey AB, Cornell AM, et al. Reduction of peripartum racial and ethnic disparities: a conceptual framework and maternal safety consensus bundle [published correction appears in *Obstet Gynecol*. 2019 Jun;133(6):1288]. *Obstet Gynecol*. 2018;131(5):770–782.
- 32. Keith MH, Martin MA. Social determinant pathways to hypertensive disorders of pregnancy among nulliparous U.S. women. Womens Health Issues. 2024;34(1):36–44.
- Mohamoud YA, Cassidy E, Fuchs E, Womack LS, Romero L, Kipling L, et al. Vital signs: maternity care experiences—United States, April 2023. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2023;72(35):961–967.
- 34. Gillespie K, Weeks F. Prenatal racial discrimination associated with dissatisfaction with prenatal care. *WMJ*. 2021;120(S1):S17–S23.
- American Academy of Family Physicians. Striving for Birth Equity: Family Medicine's Role in Overcoming Disparities in Maternal Morbidity and Mortality. <u>https://www.aafp. org/about/policies/all/birth-equity-pos-</u> <u>paper.html</u>. Accessed November 27, 2023.

- 36. American College of Nurse-Midwives. Position Statement: Racism and Racial Bias. <u>https://midwife.org/</u> <u>ACNM/files/ACNMLibraryData/</u> <u>UPLOADFILENAME/00000000315/</u> <u>PS-Racism-and-Racial-Bias-26-Apr-18.pdf</u>. Accessed November 27, 2023.
- American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. Joint Statement: Obstetrics and Gynecology: Collective Action Addressing Racism. <u>https://www.acog.</u> org/-/media/project/acog/acogorg/ files/pdfs/news/commitmentendracismhistoryobgyn-082720-v8.pdf. Accessed November 27, 2023.
- National Association of Nurse Practitioners in Women's Health. Position Statement: Structural Racism and Implicit Bias in Women's Healthcare. <u>https://cdn.ymaws.</u> <u>com/npwh.org/resource/resmgr/</u> <u>positionstatement/npwh-ps-102020-</u> <u>structuralrac.pdf</u>. Accessed November 27, 2023.
- American Medical Association. Racism as a Public Health Threat H-65.952. https://policysearch.ama-assn.org/ policyfinder/detail/structural%20 racism?uri=%2FAMADoc%2FHOD.xml-H -65.952.xml. Accessed November 27, 2023.
- 40. Haug EB, Horn J, Markovitz AR, Vatten LJ, Macdonald-Wallis C, Tilling K, et al. Life course trajectories of cardiovascular risk factors in women with and without hypertensive disorders in first pregnancy: the HUNT study in Norway. *J Am Heart Assoc*. 2018;7(15):e009250.
- 41. Davis MB, Arendt K, Bello NA, Brown H, Briller J, Epps K, et al. Team-based care of women with cardiovascular disease from pre-conception through pregnancy and postpartum: JACC Focus Seminar 1/5. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2021;77(14):1763–1777.

- 42. Ying W, Catov JM, Ouyang P. Hypertensive disorders of pregnancy and future maternal cardiovascular risk. *J Am Heart Assoc.* 2018;7(17):e009382.
- 43. Grundy SM, Stone NJ, Bailey AL, Beam C, Birtcher KK, Blumenthal RS, et al. 2018 AHA/ ACC/AACVPR/AAPA/ABC/ACPM/ADA/AGS/ APhA/ASPC/NLA/PCNA guideline on the management of blood cholesterol: a report of the American College of Cardiology/ American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines [published correction appears in *Circulation*. 2019 Jun 18;139(25):e1182–e1186] [published correction appears in *Circulation*. 2023 Aug 15;148(7):e5]. *Circulation*. 2019;139(25):e1082–e1143.
- 44. Dines VA, Kattah AG, Weaver AL, Vaughan LE, Chamberlain AM, Bielinski SJ, et al. Risk of adult hypertension in offspring from pregnancies complicated by hypertension: population-based estimates. *Hypertension*. 2023;80(9):1940–1948.
- 45. Kajantie E, Eriksson JG, Osmond C, Thornburg K, Barker DJ. Pre-eclampsia is associated with increased risk of stroke in the adult offspring: the Helsinki birth cohort study. *Stroke*. 2009;40(4):1176–1180.
- 46. Huang C, Wei K, Lee PMY, Qin G, Yu Y, Li J. Maternal hypertensive disorder of pregnancy and mortality in offspring from birth to young adulthood: national populationbased cohort study [published correction appears in *BMJ*. 2022 Nov 11;379:o2726]. *BMJ*. 2022;379:e072157
- 47. Hammad IA, Meeks H, Fraser A, et al. Risks of cause-specific mortality in offspring of pregnancies complicated by hypertensive disease of pregnancy. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*. 2020;222(1):75.e1–75.e9.

- 48. U.S. Preventive Services Task Force; Davidson KW, Barry MJ, Mangione CM, Cabana M, Caughey AB, Davis EM, et al. Aspirin use to prevent preeclampsia and related morbidity and mortality: U.S. Preventive Services Task Force recommendation statement. JAMA. 2021;326(12):1186–1191.
- 49. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. Practice Advisory: Low-Dose Aspirin Use for the Prevention of Preeclampsia and Related Morbidity and Mortality. <u>https://www.acog.org/clinical/</u> <u>clinical-guidance/practice-advisory/</u> <u>articles/2021/12/low-dose-aspirin-use-</u> <u>for-the-prevention-of-preeclampsia-</u> <u>and-related-morbidity-and-mortality</u>. Accessed November 27, 2023.
- 50. Ahmad A, Oparil S. Hypertension in women: recent advances and lingering questions. *Hypertension*. 2017;70(1):19–26.
- ACOG Committee Opinion No. 755: well-woman visit. *Obstet Gynecol.* 2018;132(4):e181–e186.
- 52. American Academy of Family Physicians. Preconception Care (position paper). December 2015. <u>https://www.aafp.org/</u> about/policies/all/preconception-care. <u>html</u>. Accessed January 2, 2024.
- 53. ACOG Committee Opinion No. 762: Prepregnancy Counseling. *Obstet Gynecol.* 2019;133(1):e78–e89. doi:10.1097/ AOG.000000000003013.
- Rakotz MK, Ewigman BG, Sarav M, Ross RE, Robicsek A, Konchak CW, et al. A technology-based quality innovation to identify undiagnosed hypertension among active primary care patients. *Ann Fam Med*. 2014;12(4):352–358.
- 55. Banerjee D, Chung S, Wong EC, Wang EJ, Stafford RS, Palaniappan LP. Underdiagnosis of hypertension using electronic health records. *Am J Hypertens*. 2012;25(1):97–102.

- 56. Meador M, Osheroff JA, Reisler B. Improving identification and diagnosis of hypertensive patients hiding in plain sight (HIPS) in health centers. *Jt Comm J Qual Patient Saf.* 2018;44(3):117–129.
- 57. Johnson HM, Thorpe CT, Bartels CM, Schumacher JR, Palta M, Pandhi N, et al. Undiagnosed hypertension among young adults with regular primary care use. *J Hypertens*. 2014 Jan;32(1):65–74.
- Baus A, Hendryx M, Pollard C. Identifying patients with hypertension: a case for auditing electronic health record data. *Perspect Health Inf Manag.* 2012;9(Spring):1e.
- 59. Schulz WL, Young HP, Coppi A, Mortazavi BJ, Lin Z, Jean RA, Krumholz HM. Temporal relationship of computed and structured diagnoses in electronic health record data. *BMC Med Inform Decis Mak*. 2021;21(1):61.
- 60. Wall HK, Hannan JA, Wright JS. Patients with undiagnosed hypertension: hiding in plain sight. JAMA. 2014;312(19):1973–1974.
- 61. Chen L, Shortreed SM, Easterling T, Cheetham TC, Reynolds K, Avalos LA, et al. Identifying hypertension in pregnancy using electronic medical records: the importance of blood pressure values. *Pregnancy Hypertens*. 2020;19:112–118.
- U.S. Preventive Services Task Force; Barry MJ, Nicholson WK, Silverstein M, Cabana MD, Chelmow D, Rucker Coker T, et al. Screening for hypertensive disorders of pregnancy: U.S. Preventive Services Task Force final recommendation statement. JAMA. 2023;330(11):1074–1082.
- American Medical Association. U.S. Blood Pressure Validated Device Listing. <u>https://</u> <u>www.validatebp.org</u>/. Accessed December 19, 2023.
- 64. STRIDE BP. Validated Blood Pressure Monitors. https://stridebp.org/bp-monitors. Accessed December 19, 2023.

- 65. Whelton PK, Carey RM, Aronow WS, Casey DE Jr, Collins KJ, Dennison Himmelfarb C, et al. 2017 ACC/AHA/AAPA/ABC/ ACPM/AGS/APhA/ASH/ASPC/NMA/PCNA guideline for the prevention, detection, evaluation, and management of high blood pressure in adults: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines [published correction appears in *Hypertension*. 2018 Jun;71(6):e140–e144]. *Hypertension*. 2018;71(6):e13–e115.
- 66. Tita AT, Szychowski JM, Boggess K, Dugoff L, Sibai B, Lawrence K, et al. Treatment for mild chronic hypertension during pregnancy. N Engl J Med. 2022;386(19):1781–1792.
- 67. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. Practice Advisory: Clinical Guidance for the Integration of the Findings of the Chronic Hypertension and Pregnancy (CHAP) Study. <u>https://www.</u> acog.org/clinical/clinical-guidance/ practice-advisory/articles/2022/04/ clinical-guidance-for-the-integrationof-the-findings-of-the-chronichypertension-and-pregnancy-chap-study. Accessed November 27, 2023.
- 68. Society for Maternal-Fetal Medicine; Publications Committee. Society for Maternal-Fetal Medicine statement: antihypertensive therapy for mild chronic hypertension in pregnancy—the Chronic Hypertension and Pregnancy trial. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* 2022;227(2):B24–B27.
- Park K, Bairey Merz CN, Bello NA, et al. Management of women with acquired cardiovascular disease from pre-conception through pregnancy and postpartum: JACC Focus Seminar 3/5. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2021;77(14):1799–1812.
- 70. Steele DW, Adam GP, Saldanha IJ, Kanaan G, Zahradnik ML, Danilack-Fekete VA, et al. Postpartum home blood pressure monitoring: a systematic review. *Obstet Gynecol.* 2023;142(2):285–295.

- Ditisheim A, Wuerzner G, Ponte B, Vial Y, Irion O, Burnier M, et al. Prevalence of hypertensive phenotypes after preeclampsia: a prospective cohort study. *Hypertension*. 2018;71(1):103–109.
- 72. Visser VS, Hermes W, Franx A, Koopmans CM, van Pampus MG, Mol BW, de Groot CJ. High blood pressure six weeks postpartum after hypertensive pregnancy disorders at term is associated with chronic hypertension. *Pregnancy Hypertens*. 2013;3(4):242–247.
- Hauspurg A, Lemon L, Cabrera C, Javaid A, Binstock A, Quinn B, et al. Racial Differences in Postpartum Blood Pressure Trajectories Among Women After a Hypertensive Disorder of Pregnancy. *JAMA Netw Open*. 2020 Dec 1;3(12):e2030815.
- Benschop L, Duvekot JJ, Versmissen J, van Broekhoven V, Steegers EAP, Roeters van Lennep JE. Blood pressure profile 1 year after severe preeclampsia. *Hypertension*. 2018;71(3):491–498.
- Lewey J, Levine LD, Yang L, Triebwasser JE, Groeneveld PW. Patterns of postpartum ambulatory care follow-up care among women with hypertensive disorders of pregnancy. J Am Heart Assoc. 2020;9(17):e016357.
- Institute for Healthcare Improvement. The Breakthrough Series: IHI's Collaborative Model for Achieving Breakthrough Improvement. IHI Innovation Series white paper. Boston: IHI; 2003.
- 77. Mehta LS, Sharma G, Creanga AA, Hameed AB, Hollier LM, Johnson JC, et al. Call to action: maternal health and saving mothers: a policy statement from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 2021;144(15):e251–e269.
- DiPietro Mager N, Bright D, Shipman AJ. Beyond contraception: pharmacist roles to support maternal health. *Pharmacy (Basel)*. 2022;10(6):163.

- 79. DiPietro Mager NA, Bright DR. Promising practices and pockets of excellence: community pharmacists supporting wellness for reproductive-age women. *Health Serv Res.* 2022;57(6):1384–1389.
- 80. Yee LM, Williams B, Green HM, Carmona-Barrera V, Diaz L, Davis K, et al. Bridging the postpartum gap: best practices for training of obstetrical patient navigators. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*. 2021;225(2):138–152.
- Poon LC, Nguyen-Hoang L, Smith GN, Bergman L, O'Brien P, Hod M, et al. Hypertensive disorders of pregnancy and long-term cardiovascular health: FIGO best practice advice. *Int J Gynaecol Obstet*. 2023;160(Suppl 1):22–34.
- Spaan J, Peeters L, Spaanderman M, Brown M. Cardiovascular risk management after a hypertensive disorder of pregnancy. *Hypertension*. 2012;60(6):1368–1373.
- American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists; Society for Maternal-Fetal Medicine. Obstetric Care Consensus No.
   8: interpregnancy care. *Obstet Gynecol*. 2019;133(1):e51–e72.
- Roberts JM, King TL, Barton JR, Beck S, Bernstein IM, Buck TE, et al. Care plan for individuals at risk for preeclampsia: shared approach to education, strategies for prevention, surveillance, and follow-up. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*. 2023;229(3):193–213.
- 85. Society for Maternal-Fetal Medicine; Gibson KS, Combs CA, Bauer S, Feldman Hamm R, Healy A, Morgan J, et al. Society for Maternal-Fetal Medicine special statement: quality metric for timely postpartum follow-up after severe hypertension. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* 2022;227(3):B2–B8.

- Society for Maternal-Fetal Medicine; Combs CA, Kumar NR, Morgan JL; SMFM Patient Safety and Quality Committee. Society for Maternal-Fetal Medicine special statement: prophylactic low-dose aspirin for preeclampsia prevention-quality metric and opportunities for quality improvement. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* 2023;229(2):B2–B9.
- Society for Maternal-Fetal Medicine; Healy A, Davidson C, Allbert J, Bauer S, Toner L, Combs CA. Society for Maternal-Fetal Medicine special statement: telemedicine in obstetrics-quality and safety considerations. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* 2023;228(3):B8–B17.
- Bernstein PS, Martin JN Jr, Barton JR, Shields LE, Druzin ML, Scavone BM, et al. National Partnership for Maternal Safety: consensus bundle on severe hypertension during pregnancy and the postpartum period [published correction appears in *Anesth Analg.* 2019 Dec;129(6):e208]. *Anesth Analg.* 2017;125(2):540–547.
- 89. Bajaj K, Meguerdichian M, Thoma B, Huang S, Eppich W, Cheng A. The PEARLS Healthcare Debriefing Tool. *Acad Med.* 2018;93(2):336.
- 90. Cantor AG, Jungbauer RM, Skelly AC, Hart EL, Jorda K, Davis-O'Reilly C, et al. Respectful maternity care : a systematic review. *Ann Intern Med*. 2024 Jan 2. doi:10.7326/M23-2676. Epub ahead of print.
- 91. ACOG Committee Opinion No. 587: effective patient-physician communication. *Obstet Gynecol*. 2014;123(2 Pt 1):389–393.
- 92. Lindley KJ, Bairey Merz CN, Davis MB, Madden T, Park K, Bello NA. Contraception and reproductive planning for women with cardiovascular disease: JACC Focus Seminar 5/5. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2021;77(14):1823–1834.
- 93. Society for Maternal-Fetal Medicine; Gibson KS, McLean D. Society for Maternal-Fetal Medicine special statement: a maternal transport briefing form and checklist. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* 2020;223(5):B12–B15.

- 94. Parikh NI, Gonzalez JM, Anderson CAM, Judd SE, Rexrode KM, Hlatky MA, et al. Adverse pregnancy outcomes and cardiovascular disease risk: unique opportunities for cardiovascular disease prevention in women: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 2021;143(18):e902–e916.
- 95. Stewart EE, Fox CH. Encouraging patients to change unhealthy behaviors with motivational interviewing. *Fam Pract Manag.* 2011;18(3):21–25.
- 96. Steele DW, Adam GP, Saldanha IJ, et al. Management of Postpartum Hypertensive Disorders of Pregnancy. Comparative Effectiveness Review No. 263. AHRQ Publication No. 23-EHC012. PCORI Publication No. 2023-SR-02. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality; May 2023. doi:10.23970/AHRQEPCCER263.
- 97. McGrath D, Meador M, Wall HK, Padwal RS. Self-measured blood pressure telemonitoring programs: a pragmatic how-to guide. *Am J Hypertens*. 2023;36(8):417–427.
- Ghazi L, Bello NA. Hypertension in women across the lifespan. *Curr Atheroscler Rep.* 2021;23(8):43.
- 99. ACOG Committee Opinion No. 517: communication strategies for patient handoffs. *Obstet Gynecol*. 2012;119(2 Pt 1):408–411.
- 100. Wall HK, Streeter TE, Wright JS. An opportunity to better address hypertension in women: self-measured blood pressure monitoring. *J Womens Health (Larchmt)*. 2022;31(10):1380–1386.
- 101. Martin C, Pappas J, Johns K, Figueroa H, Balli K, Yao R. Semiautonomous treatment algorithm for the management of severe hypertension in pregnancy. *Obstet Gynecol*. 2021;137(2):211–217.

- 102. Ades V, Goddard B, Pearson Ayala S, Chemouni Bach S, Wu SX. ACOG Committee Opinion No. 729: importance of social determinants of health and cultural awareness in the delivery of reproductive health care. *Obstet Gynecol*. 2018;131(6):1162–1163.
- 103. Task Force CPS. Self-measured blood pressure monitoring improves outcomes: recommendation of the Community Preventive Services Task Force. *Am J Prev Med*. 2017;53(3):e115–e118.
- 104. U.S. Preventive Services Task Force; Krist AH, Davidson KW, Mangione CM, Cabana M, Caughey AB, Davis EM, et al. Screening for hypertension in adults: U.S. Preventive Services Task Force reaffirmation recommendation statement. JAMA. 2021;325(16):1650–1656.
- 105. Kalafat E, Benlioglu C, Thilaganathan B, Khalil A. Home blood pressure monitoring in the antenatal and postpartum period: a systematic review meta-analysis. *Pregnancy Hypertens*. 2020;19:44–51.
- 106. Tucker KL, Bankhead C, Hodgkinson J, Roberts N, Stevens R, Heneghan C, et al. How do home and clinic blood pressure readings compare in pregnancy? *Hypertension*. 2018;72(3):686–694.
- 107. Muntner P, Shimbo D, Carey RM, Charleston JB, Gaillard T, Misra S, et al. Measurement of blood pressure in humans: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. *Hypertension*. 2019 May;73(5):e35–e66.

- 108. Shahi S, Jackson SL, Streeter TE, He S, Wall HK. Cuff size variation across manufacturers of home blood pressure devices: a current patient dilemma. *Am J Hypertens*. 2023 Sep 15;36(10):532–535.
- 109. Shimbo D, Artinian NT, Basile JN, Krakoff LR, Margolis KL, Rakotz MK, Wozniak G; American Heart Association and the American Medical Association. Selfmeasured blood pressure monitoring at home: a joint policy statement from the American Heart Association and American Medical Association. *Circulation*. 2020;142(4):e42–e63.
- 110. STRIDE BP. Validated Devices for Blood Pressure Measurement in Pregnancy/ Preeclampsia. <u>https://stridebp.org/</u>
   <u>bp-monitors/37-pdfs/734-home?format=</u> <u>pdf&tmpl=component&box=pregnancy</u>. Accessed December 29, 2023.
- 111. American Medical Association. SMBP Coverage Insights: Medicaid. <u>https://</u> www.ama-assn.org/system/files/smbpcoverage-medicaid.pdf</u>. Accessed April 15, 2024.
- 112. Wall HK, Wright JS, Jackson SL, Daussat L, Ramkissoon N, Schieb LJ, et al. How do we jump-start self-measured blood pressure monitoring in the United States? Addressing barriers beyond the published literature. *Am J Hypertens*. 2022;35(3):244–255.



Million Hearts<sup>®</sup> is a U.S. Department of Health and Human Services initiative that is co-led by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, with the goal of preventing one million heart attacks and strokes by 2027.

# millionhearts.hhs.gov

